MASTER CONTRACT

BETWEEN

THE BAY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

AND

THE BAY EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL ASSOCIATION

2019-2022

Board Approved: 11-12-19

Ratified: 11-13-19

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AR	TICLES	Page
1	Recognition	3
2	Union Rights	4
3	Negotiations Procedure	7
4	Grievance Procedure	8
5	Working Conditions	
6	General Employment Practices	
7	Transfers and Reassignments/Full-time Employees	
8	Vacancies and Promotions	
9	Employee Evaluation/Personnel Records	23
10	Fair Discipline and Dismissal	
11	Reduction in Force/Hours	
12	Temporary Duty/Leaves of Absence/Holidays	
13	Use of Private Vehicles	
14	Benefits	
15	Insurance	45
16	Miscellaneous	
17	Political Activity	
18	Work Load	_
19	Compensation	
20	Transportation Employees	
21	Drug Free Work Place	
22	Contracted Services	
23	Terms of Agreement	61
APPENDIX		
Α	Guidelines for Alternate Pay Cycle for Bus Drivers/Bus Paras	61
В	Educational Support Personnel Grievance Form	
C	Personnel Request for Transfer Form (online)	63
D	Educational Support Pay Schedules	
F	Classification and Pay Grades (From BDS Salary Schedule)	66

PREAMBLE

This agreement, entered into this $\underline{13^{th}}$ of November 2019 by and between the School Board of Bay County, Florida, hereinafter called the "Board", and the Bay Educational Support Personnel Association, bargaining on behalf of all educational support personnel, hereinafter called the "Union".

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, The Board has agreed to negotiate in good faith with the Union as the exclusive representative of its educational support personnel with respect to salaries, hours, terms and conditions of employment and now, having reached agreement on all such matters desire to execute this contract covering such agreement, and

WHEREAS, The Board and Union, following complete and deliberate negotiations, have reached certain understandings which they desire to confirm in this Agreement,

In consideration of the following mutual covenants, it is hereby agreed as follows:

Recognition

1.1 The Board recognizes the Union as the sole exclusive bargaining agent for the bargaining unit of employees whether on the job or on approved leave or on the job pending official action of the Board, all as certified by the Public Employee Relations Commission on Case No.RC-85-048, Certification No. 702, VERIFICATION OF ELECTION RESULTS AND CERTIFICATION OF EXCLUSIVE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING REPRESENTATIVE, issued by the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission on the fourteenth day of March, 1986, to wit:

"INCLUSION; All full-time and regular part-time Educational Support employees including maintenance workers, custodians, maids, head custodians, food service managers and assistant managers, food service workers, bus drivers, bus paraprofessionals, paraprofessionals, voluntary pre-K associates, secretaries and clerical employees."

"EXCLUSIONS: All employees paid from the following salary schedules are excluded: instructional, licensed, administrative/supervisory, confidential, and safety and security.

1.2 All rights, privileges and benefits granted to the Association in this Agreement shall pertain exclusively to the Union so long as it remains the certified bargaining agent.

Union Rights

- 2.1 The Union shall have the right to use school buildings and other work sites at reasonable hours for business meetings when approved by the facility's manager and/or Superintendent. The Board may charge for necessary custodial and utility services to the extent that other non-school groups are charged. All required forms for use of school and district facilities must be completed and proof of proper insurance must be presented.
- 2.2 The Union shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of Union concern on a specifically assigned bulletin board in each work site and shall be responsible for policing the assigned bulletin board. The location of the bulletin board is to be designated by mutual agreement of the facility manager and Union representative.
- 2.3 A mailbox will be provided for each full-time Educational Support employee (excluding Administrative Building). The Union shall have the right to use employee mailboxes for communications to employees. The Union shall also have the right to use the school system courier services for ratification votes, sick leave pool communications and for other mutually agreed upon interests of both parties. The Union will be provided a mailbox at the school nearest its central office. All correspondence shall include a return address and sender's name.
- 2.4 The Union will be allowed use of the Public Address System before and/or after the student day for announcements. Announcements affecting bus drivers may be aired over bus radios. Such announcements will be made by the facility manager or his/her designee.
- 2.5 Employees required at the direction of the Superintendent or the Board, in writing, to attend Board Meetings during regular working hours shall be granted temporary duty leave with pay.

The Union will be placed on the agenda of each regular Board meeting. Written requests for official Board action must be presented to the Superintendent at least two (2) working days prior to the agenda meeting. The Union shall be placed on the agenda of any special Board meeting provided that the Union makes written request to the Superintendent within one (1) day after announcement of such meeting.

2.6 Any employee who is a member of the Union, or who has applied for membership, may sign and cause to be delivered to the Board an assignment authorizing deduction of membership dues in the Union. The Union will be responsible for determining the appropriate tier to be in effect for the employee. This will be indicated clearly on the signed authorization form provided to the Payroll Department. Should an employee's annual earnings necessitate a change to another dues tier, the Union will be responsible for providing a signed membership form indicating the new tier before the Payroll Department makes any change to the employee's dues tier.

Pursuant to such authorization the Board shall deduct such sum as authorized in equal payments from the employee's regular salary check beginning no later than 20 days after the completed authorization form is received in the Payroll Department. Such authorization shall continue in effect as long as the Union remains the certified bargaining agent for employees in this unit. Any employee may revoke the above authorization by giving the Board and the Union written notice thirty (30) days prior to any payroll submission date. The revocation will be effective on the first payroll submission date after the conclusion of the thirty (30) day notice. The Board agrees to remit dues collected on behalf of the Union within a reasonable length of time after collection not to exceed two (2) weeks. The dues deduction form will be provided by the Board. The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the Board from any and all claims, demands, suits and costs incurred in connection with such claim demand, or suit, resulting from any action taken or omitted by the Board for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this section. The Union shall publish to its general membership the amount of monthly dues prior to the first payroll date of any year. If a change in dues occurs, employees shall be notified.

- 2.7 Upon written authorization from the employee, the Board shall deduct from the wage of any employee and make appropriate remittances for any plan or program approved by the Board to include credit union, charitable donations, insurance, or annuities.
- 2.8 The Union president or his/her designee shall be allowed to visit work sites to investigate employee grievances (as specified in Article 4) and for official Union business provided the visit is scheduled with the facility manager. Such visits shall in no way disturb the school's instructional program or disturb the work schedule.

- 2.9 Following a facility manager's presentation of business at a meeting of Educational Support employees, the Union representative may meet with employees for the purpose of presenting brief reports and announcements. Quarterly, the BESPA representative, in the absence of the aforementioned business meeting by the facility manager or principal where all support professionals are able to attend, may schedule a meeting during the work day that is convenient for most support employees, that shall not interrupt the student instruction, and that every attempt will be made to make arrangements to allow all support employees to attend.
- 2.10 The Board packet will be available on-line for the Union immediately after publication.
- 2.11 The Union president or his/her designee shall be granted, upon request, temporary duty leave to attend Board meetings. The Union shall reimburse the Board for substitutes when necessary. The reimbursement will include the cost of the substitute's pay plus the employer's matching portion of the Federal Insurance Contribution Act (FICA). If a regular employee is used as a substitute, then the Union will reimburse the Board for retirement. This provision for reimbursement will apply for all substitutes provided by the Union.

The Union president or his/her designee/designees may be granted temporary duty leave to attend conferences or legislative activities that will benefit the school system, with prior approval by the Superintendent or his/her designee. The Union shall reimburse the Board for substitutes, when necessary.

- 2.12 The Union president shall appoint a representative(s) to serve on appropriate standing county level committees.
- 2.13 The Board will allow the Union a maximum of seventy-five (75) days release time for union activities. These days may be used for school visits, Board meetings, grievance hearings, implementation of the Union contract, bargaining, internal and external public relations conferences, legislative activities and FEA Representative Assembly. The Union will reimburse the Board for substitute's pay to include the number of days used up to the maximum of seventy-five (75) days when necessary.
- 2.14 A one year leave of absence, without pay, shall be granted to any employee upon application for the purpose of serving as a full-time, paid officer of the state or national affiliate of the Union. Said employee may apply for a year's extension of the original leave.

Negotiations Procedures

- 3.1 In any negotiations described in the Agreement, neither party shall have any control over the selection of the negotiating representatives of the other party. It is recognized that no final agreement between the parties may be executed without ratification by a majority of the Board and by a majority of the members of the bargaining unit voting, but the parties mutually pledge that their representatives shall have all necessary power and authority to make proposals, consider proposals and make concessions in the course of negotiations. Throughout negotiations, all tentative agreements shall be signed by representatives designated by each party. There shall be two (2) signed copies of any final agreement. One (1) copy shall be retained by the Board and one (1) by the Union.
- 3.2 Following tentative agreement of the contract, the Board agrees to print a copy of the changed language for the Union to distribute to its bargaining unit members for the purpose of ratification.
- 3.3 After this Agreement has been ratified by the Board and the Union, the Board shall place the Master Contract on the District website.
- 3.4 Negotiations sessions shall begin at a mutually agreed upon time. When it is necessary for a negotiating session to take place during normal working hours, no more than six (6) Union bargaining team members shall be granted temporary duty leave. Such leave shall include time to travel from job sites to the session.

Grievance Procedure

- 4.1 Any claim by an employee, or a group of employees, that there has been misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this written agreement or School Board Policy that affects educational support personnel's wages, hours, or terms and conditions of employment which is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement or School Board Policy shall be a grievance. If the grievance involves any of the rights granted to the Union, the grievance may be filed by the Union directly to Step II.
- 4.2 The grievant(s) shall be allowed to appoint a Union representative, at no cost to the Board, to be present for all meetings, hearings, appeals, or other proceedings relative to any grievance which has been formally presented and no employee may be required to discuss any grievance if the Union representative is not present. If an employee desires Union representation, the employee shall be responsible for requesting such representation. Additional representation will be by mutual agreement.
- 4.3 In the event that an employee believes there is a basis for a grievance he/she shall first discuss the alleged grievance with the facility manager (Within the Superintendent's Complex, a department constitutes a facility.), at which a representative may be present, within ten (10) working days of the alleged violation or within ten (10) working days following the time when the employee responsibly should have gained knowledge of its occurrence. Any adjustment reached in the informal discussion shall be consistent with the terms of this Agreement. If, after informal discussion with the facility manager, a grievance exists, the grievant(s) must initiate the following formal grievance procedure within five (5) working days from the date of the informal conference specified above. When requested by the employee, a Union representative may be present. The aggrieved may withdraw a grievance at any step in the adopted procedure.

Appeals to Step I and Step II must be filed within five (5) working days following the disposition of the grievance or the expiration of the disposition timelines.

Step I

A formal written grievance must be filed on the specified grievance form and submitted to the facility manager. In the event the remedy sought is not within the jurisdiction of the facility manager, the grievant may file the Step I grievance at the lowest level at which the relief may be granted. Such form will be available from the Union representative and will be available on the District website. The facility manager will schedule and conduct a Step I hearing within five (5) work days of the receipt of the formal grievance. The facility manager will then have five (5) working days after the Step I hearing to indicate the disposition of the grievance in writing on said form with distribution as indicated on the form.

Step II

If the grievant(s) is/are not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance made by the facility manager, or the Step I timeline expires without a hearing as established above, the grievance may be submitted to the Superintendent. Within five (5) working days of receipt of the grievance the Superintendent, or his/her designee, shall meet with the grievant(s) and shall indicate the disposition of the grievance in writing within five (5) working days of such meeting to the grievant(s).

Step III

If the grievant(s) is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent or his/her designee, or if no disposition has been made within five (5) working days after the Step II hearing, the grievance may be submitted to mediation through the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. The grievant must submit a written request for mediation to the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service within ten (10) days of the Step II hearing if a disposition is received within the time limits or twenty (20) days if no disposition has been received. A copy of the request for mediation must be provided to the Superintendent or his/her designee to verify that the time limits have been met. With the agreement of both parties this step may be waived and the grievance may proceed directly to Step IV

Step IV

If the grievant(s) is/are not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Step III or the Step III timelines expire without a hearing or written decision, the grievant(s) may, within twenty (20) days, submit the grievance to final and binding arbitration. Arbitration will proceed under the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, the rules of which shall govern the proceedings. The arbitrator shall not have the power to alter the terms of this agreement.

The arbitrator shall be selected from a mutually agreed upon permanent panel. The panel shall consist of five (5) arbitrators. Arbitrators shall be selected for individual cases on a rotating basis. Any changes in the permanent panel system must be mutually agreed upon, in writing, by

the parties.

Should any of the permanent panel members withdraw from the rotating list, the parties shall attempt to mutually agree upon a replacement. Should the parties fail to reach agreement on a replacement and/or a modification of the permanent panel, then arbitrators shall be selected under the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

4.4 The time limits provided in this article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the Superintendent or his/her designee and the aggrieved. In the event a grievance is filed after May 15 of any year and strict adherence to the time limits may result in hardship to any party, the Superintendent shall use his/her best efforts to process such grievance prior to the end of the school term or as soon thereafter as possible. Whenever illness or other incapacity of the aggrieved or other party to the proceedings prevents his/her presence at a grievance meeting, the time limits shall be extended to such time that the person can be present.

Every effort will be made to schedule hearings other than during work hours. However, when such grievance meetings and conferences are held during work hours, each employee whose presence is required shall be excused, with pay, for that purpose.

- 4.5 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Administration or Board or Union against any employee because of his/her participation in this grievance procedure. All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personnel file of the participant.
- 4.6 The commencing of legal proceedings against the Board in a court of law or equity, or before the Public Employees Relations Commission or any other administrative agency, by an employee, employees, or the Union, for an alleged violation or violations of the express terms of this agreement shall be deemed a waiver by said employee, employees, or the Union, of its/their right to resort to the grievance and arbitration procedure contained in this agreement for resolution of the alleged violation or violations of the express terms of this agreement.
- 4.7 The Union representative will be provided access to any and all public documents as outlined in Florida Statutes 119 and 1012.31. The cost of such documents shall not exceed standards outlined in the above cited statutes.

- 4.8 The Union will be notified in advance of all hearings conducted relative to grievances involving bargaining unit members. The Union may be present for any grievance hearings.
- 4.9 The grievance procedure shall not obligate the Union to represent non-members.

Working Conditions

5.1 A. Full-time Educational Support Personnel

Full-time educational support personnel are defined as those employees who are employed by agreement or contract and work six (6) or more hours each day or more than thirty (30) hours per week It shall be the goal of the District to provide these employees with at least six (6) hours per day. Once any of these employees attains six (6) hours per day, they shall not be reduced to less than six (6) hours except as allowed under Article 11.1.

B. Part-time Educational Support Personnel

Part-time educational support personnel are defined as those who are employed by contract or agreement and work less than six (6) hours each day or less than thirty (30) hours per week, except as outlined in Article 5.1 A. Part-time educational support personnel are entitled to Florida retirement and FICA benefits as prescribed by their rules, but are not entitled to leave or insurance provisions as adopted herein.

- 5.2 A. During each four (4) hour period of work each employee shall be entitled to a fifteen (15) minute break. Employees working six (6) or more hours shall be provided an unpaid, duty free meal period of no less than thirty (30) minutes.
 - B. After completion of a field trip if a bus driver's job responsibilities have prohibited him/her from taking their 30 minute duty-free meal he/she will be paid for their meal-time at their regular hourly rate. The field trip sponsor will verify the fact that the driver's duties kept them from taking their duty-free meal.
 - C. After completion of a field trip if a paraprofessional's job responsibilities have prohibited him/her from taking his/her 30 minute duty-free meal, he/she will be paid for the lost time at his/her regular hourly rate. The field trip sponsor will verify that the paraprofessional's duties kept him/her from having a duty-free meal.
- 5.3 A. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to report, in writing, potentially unsafe or hazardous conditions to the immediate supervisor who shall have the condition investigated. If an unsafe or hazardous condition exists, the supervisor will take steps to

correct the condition. The supervisor shall notify the employee, in writing, within ten (10) working days of action(s) being taken to correct the conditions. If however, the immediate supervisor feels an unsafe or hazardous condition does not exist, said supervisor shall notify the employee, in writing, of the reasons. Such notification shall take place within ten (10) working days of the complaint being filed.

- B. Should a worksite administrator have or choose to establish a Safety Committee, said Committee shall offer an opportunity to include a BESPA representative or BESPA member selected by the support employees at the worksite.
- 5.4 The Board shall provide such safety clothing and equipment as needed. Work boots shall be provided as expressed in 5.13 B.
- 5.5 In case of an emergency, employees may leave their work location, provided they receive prior approval of the facility manager or his/her designee.
- 5.6 Time lost by an employee for appearances before a School Board, judicial board, or legal authority in connection with any incident in this article shall result in no loss of wages or reductions in accumulated leave.
- 5.7 No formal action (anything affecting future employment status) against an employee shall be taken on a basis of a complaint by a parent or student or other individual, nor any notice thereof, shall be included in the employee's personnel file unless the matter is first reported to the employee in writing. Such material can only be placed in the file through authorization of the facility manager and the Superintendent. No anonymous complaints shall be placed in an employee's personnel file.
 - The personnel file shall be defined as a composite of the work site file and the county office file. There shall be no other personnel files.
- 5.8 If an employee is complained against or sued as a result of any action consistent with School Board policies taken by the employee while performing normally assigned duties, the Board will provide legal counsel.
- 5.9 Employees whose job descriptions call for student supervision may refer disruptive students to the appropriate certificated person.
- 5.10 Any case of assault and/or battery upon an employee shall be promptly reported, in writing, to the facility manager or his/her designated

representative.

- 5.11 Hair length of the employee is a matter of personal preference and shall not be abridged except in instances where such hair length is a safety or sanitary hazard.
- 5.12 The employee has the right to request Union representation when he/she is informed that a meeting with his/her facility manager may result in formal disciplinary action. Such action shall include formal reprimands, warnings, suspensions, or discharge. It is the responsibility of the employee to request representation. This section is not intended to prevent the administration from conducting appropriate investigations prior to taking disciplinary action.
- 5.13 A. The Board will require educational support personnel to wear Board provided identification badges. In addition, the Board will require employees to wear furnished articles of clothing for identification and security reasons. All employees shall abide by OSHA Regulations/Standards.

B. Maintenance Dress Code

All employees should look professional. Therefore, the following Maintenance Dress Code will be followed every day by all of the maintenance employees except the office staff.

- 1. Shirts, jackets, and hats that are provided by BDS should be worn.
- 2. Blue jeans and cargo pants are acceptable with BDS supplied shirts. Pants should be presentable, no holes in pants.
- 3. Cargo or khaki shorts are acceptable with BDS supplied shirts. Shorts should be presentable with no holes. All office personnel are exempt.
- 4. No camouflage clothing, jackets, or hats will be worn.

C. Safety Boots

Steel toe or Kevlar boots will be required for maintenance, warehouse, and transportation employees assigned to work in the shop areas. After working ninety-one (91) days, a current full-time employee will be reimbursed \$100 for this item in July. This is a yearly reimbursed amount. In order to receive a yearly reimbursed amount of \$100 in July each year, an employee must:

o have worked ninety-one (91) days and

 be a current, full-time employee recommended for reemployment the following year.

If an administrator has concerns with the attire of an employee, the administrator shall meet with the employee in a private setting to address the specific concerns.

- 5.14 A. The parties agree that, for the building trades and mechanics, tools are properly furnished by both employee and employer.
 - B. Custodial employees shall be furnished with supplies, equipment and tools to accomplish tasks assigned.
 - C. The Superintendent and his/her staff shall provide the necessary in-service education and training activities to keep educational support employees knowledgeable and effective in their jobs. Educational support personnel will be notified prior to each school year the dates of in-service and will be provided a two-week notice when possible of in-service training that might emerge after the school year has begun and will be required to attend unless personal leave is applied for and approved by his/her supervisor.
- As a demonstration of respect, no employee shall be publicly reprimanded. All reprimands will be conducted in an enclosed office/room. The employee may request a representative be present during reprimands.
- 5.16 School bus drivers and school bus paraprofessionals who transport medical fragile students will be given proper training by the end of October of each year for that purpose.
- 5.17 Employees will not be allowed to use tobacco in any form on real or personal property owned or under the control of the Bay District School Board (including vehicles and buses).
 - Employees may leave school property during duty-free lunch and scheduled breaks to use tobacco products.
- All persons authorized to administer medication shall receive specific training from health personnel of the County Health Department or by registered nurses/licensed practical nurses employed by Bay District Schools. The training of such personnel shall be incorporated each year in the School Health Services Plan in accordance with School Board Policy 7.302(8) and State Statute

1006.062.

When Educational Support Personnel occupy positions that require the performance of such procedures or voluntarily accept employment for or transfer to positions that have such requirements, they will receive proper training as specified in Florida Statutes. Costs of such training will be funded by the School Board.

- No Paraprofessional shall be required to function as a substitute in the absence of the regularly assigned teacher except in the case of an emergency. An emergency shall be defined as circumstances reasonably beyond the control of the Employer. Should a paraprofessional assigned to substitute duty work more hours than he/she is normally scheduled, he/she will be paid for the extra time worked at his/her hourly rate or if mutually agreed upon by paraprofessional and site administrator, an equal amount of compensatory time.
- 5.20 The Board will pay for the fingerprint renewals for educational support employees.
- The Board shall offer Crisis Prevention Intervention (CPI) training for ESE paraprofessionals selected by their principal to either become CPI certified or to participate in the CPI refresher course. Additionally, when CPI training opportunities arise through the year, principals shall notify all paraprofessionals of the trainings.
- All part-time employees who are employed for four (4) hours or more each day for five (5) days per week will be offered unlimited use of the Educators Wellness Center for \$10 per pay period through payroll deduction. For the 2019-2020 school year, the new rate will begin after the first pay period following Board approval and Union ratification. This benefit is for part-time support employees only.

General Employment Practices

- 6.1 It is the policy of the School Board of Bay County to employ and retain as employees those best qualified to fulfill the needs of the public without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, sex and/or age. Employees will be entitled to mutual respect. They will treat other employees, students and the general public with respect, courtesy, and professionalism.
- 6.2 All new employees are required to provide evidence of physical fitness to perform duties assigned and freedom from communicable disease. The Board may require a subsequent examination when, in its judgment, such an examination is relevant to an employee's performance or status. The examining physician will be selected by the Board and cost of that specific examination will be paid for by the Board.
- 6.3 The personal life of an employee is not an appropriate concern of the Board except as it may directly affect the employee's performance of properly assigned functions.
- 6.4 Substitutes will not be used to fill vacancies for more than twelve (12) weeks. If at that time a vacancy exists, it will be filled according to Article 8.
- 6.5 Summer school employment for 10 month employees (not including bus drivers) will be as follows:
 - A. Available positions shall be posted at each work site two weeks prior to the start of summer school.
 - B. Qualified applicants from within the worksite shall be afforded the first opportunity to apply for any available positions.
 - C. Seniority among current employees shall be the determining criteria for the filling of the available position.
- 6.6 The regular contract work days for individuals in a ten (10) month support classification continues to be defined as student days per the Bay District Schools' Calendar that is published each year.

Transfers and Reassignments of Full-Time Employees

- 7.1 A. Reassignments defined A reassignment is movement of an employee from one position to another at the same work site.
 - B. Transfers defined A transfer is movement of an employee from one work site to another.
 - C. Seniority defined Seniority is defined as the total number of years the employee has been continuously employed by the Bay County School Board.
 - D. Qualifications: No employee shall be required to re-qualify for a position when seeking a transfer or reassignment to a position of equal qualifications.
- 7.2 Voluntary reassignment will be accomplished in the following manner:
 - A. Employees desiring reassignment may submit a written request to the facility manager during the five (5) or four (4) days the vacancy is posted as specified in Article 8 of this agreement.
 - B. Employees who submit a written request for reassignment within the work site where a vacancy exists shall be interviewed prior to the hiring of a new employee, subject to the following condition. If there are more than five (5) reassignment requests the site manager shall review files of all requests and choose a minimum of five (5) to interview.
 - C. The work site manager will take the voluntary reassignment request for the position(s) available, and make a final determination among the candidates based on the following:
 - 1. Qualifications,
 - 2. Length of service in the district,
 - 3. Preferences of those requesting voluntary reassignment and,
 - 4. An interview.
 - D. Employees who are reassigned shall retain all experience credit for

the purpose of their hourly wage rates and benefits as provided by this contract. However, if the reassignment results in an increase of more than ten paygrades the employee may bring a maximum of 10 (ten) years of experience credit for the purpose of their hourly wage and benefits unless recommended for more by the Superintendent.

- 7.3 Voluntary transfers will be accomplished in the following manner:
 - A. Employees desiring voluntary transfer will submit a copy of a transfer form to the employee's immediate supervisor, and the district Human Resource Department, during the five (5) or four (4) days the vacancy is posted as specified in Article 8 of this agreement.
 - B. Employees who submit a written request for transfer within the site where a vacancy exists shall be interviewed prior to the hiring of a new employee, subject to the following condition. If there are more than five (5) transfer requests the site manager shall review files of all requests and choose a minimum of five (5) to interview.
 - C. The work site manager will take the voluntary transfer list and the list of positions available, making final determination based on the following:
 - 1. Qualifications,
 - 2. Length of service in the district,
 - 3. Preferences of the voluntary transfers and,
 - 4. An interview.
 - D. Employees who are voluntarily transferred shall retain all experience credit for the purpose of their hourly wage rates and benefits as provided by this contract. However, if the voluntary transfer results in an increase of more than ten paygrades the employee may bring a maximum of 10 (ten) years of experience credit for the purpose of their hourly wage and benefits unless recommended for more by the Superintendent.
- 7.4 When involuntary transfer(s) in a school or department is necessary, the following procedure shall be followed:
 - A. The Superintendent shall determine the areas of reduction in specific departments.

- B. Volunteers shall first be considered. Volunteers shall be transferred provided there is a school or program that is entitled to an employee with the volunteer's qualifications and the volunteer is approved by the receiving facility manager.
- C. When there are not enough volunteers, involuntary transfers may be made. An involuntary transfer list shall be made based on length of service in the district with the lowest in length of service being transferred first.
- D. A list of positions with necessary qualifications to fill each position will be made from all school or departments needing additional employees. Said list will be made available to all who are being transferred involuntarily.
- E. Involuntary transfers will indicate their preference of the available positions.
- F. The Superintendent will take the involuntary transfer list and the list of positions available, making assignments based on the following:
 - 1. Qualifications,
 - 2. Length of service in the district,
 - 3. Preferences of the involuntary transfers and,
 - 4. An interview.

Based on their seniority, personnel to be involuntarily transferred will choose their three preferred positions from the vacancy list for which to interview. If more than 5 persons choose the same position to interview for then the 5 persons with the most seniority will be granted interviews for that position. In all cases the person must choose positions for which they meet the minimum job qualifications.

Persons will then be granted up to three interviews based on the above. In the event he/she is not selected by the site administrator for one of these positions then the Superintendent will place the employee in a vacancy for which he/she is qualified and with regard to the placement's proximity to his/her home.

7.4 G. In the event there are no vacancies for which the employee is qualified that are equivalent in pay to the position the employee currently holds, then the Superintendent may place the employee in a lesser paid vacant position for which he/she is qualified.

In such cases the employee shall receive the rate of pay he/she received in their previous position for one school year, after which time he/she shall receive the rate of pay associated with his/her new current position.

H. Employees who are involuntarily transferred shall retain all experience credit for the purpose of their hourly wage rates and benefits as provided by this contract. However, if the involuntary transfer results in an increase of more than ten paygrades the employee may bring a maximum of 10 (ten) years of experience credit for the purpose of their hourly wage and benefits unless recommended for more by the Superintendent.

7.5 A volunteer is qualified if:

- A. he/she is currently employed in a position with the same job classification; or
- B. he/she has met the same requirements as specified on the job description.
- 7.6 A hiring freeze shall be in effect within that category while the involuntary transfer process is in progress.
- 7.7 The Superintendent of Schools may transfer a support employee for staffing or program needs. The employee may request in writing a reason for the involuntary transfer. The employee will transfer at their current pay rate and will continue to be eligible for salary increases.

Vacancies and Promotions

- 8.1 A. Promotion and Upgrades defined: A promotion is movement to a higher pay grade at any work site in job classification or the same job classification with additional hours. Upgrades are promotions within a work site and do not result in an increase in the number of positions at a cost center. Upgrades do not require advertisement outside the cost center. All employees within the cost center meeting the requirements contained in the new position's job description will have an opportunity to apply. Upgrades shall be filled according to qualifications and experience.
 - B. Seniority defined: Seniority is defined as the total number of years the employee has been continuously employed by the Bay County School board.
 - C. Vacancy defined: When a position has been created or a current position has been vacated, which is intended to be filled, a vacancy exists.
- 8.2 A. When a vacancy exists, the position shall be posted on the BDS website for five (5) days. Article 8.1 A is an exception to Article 8.2.A. If the district is on a four (4) day week during the summer, the position will be advertised for four (4) working days.
 - B. Preference will be given to internal applicants for vacancies. Outside applicants shall not be considered until the five (5) most qualified internal applicants, as determined by the facility manager, have been interviewed. When the final decision involves bargaining unit members, the position shall be filled based on qualifications.
- 8.3 If positions are not properly advertised within the provisions of this Article, the Union may file a grievance at Step II of the grievance provision.

Employee Evaluation/Personnel Records

- 9.1 The purpose of employee evaluation is: a) to help the employee to carry out his/her stated job responsibilities by fairly and accurately assessing the employee's performance, and b) to support decisions concerning employee discipline, promotion, improvement, and compensation.
 - A. Evaluation shall be the responsibility of the facility manager or his/her designee, who may be the employee's immediate supervisor, who shall not be a member of the bargaining unit.
 - B. Each employee shall be informed of the procedures under this article, and given a copy of the evaluative document by October 1 of each year or upon employment, if after October 1. Said document shall include the title of the supervisor who will conduct the evaluation. The department or school site manager reserves the right to change the person conducting the evaluation.
 - C. Each employee shall receive by the date designated by the HR Department a written evaluation from his/her immediate supervisor at least annually. An evaluation conference shall be conducted to present the evaluation to the employee.
 - D. Such written evaluation shall note the employee's strengths, weaknesses and specific areas needing improvement.
 - E. Before marking an employee "Needs Improvement" or "Unsatisfactory" in a total category on the annual evaluation, the employee shall be informed in writing of the following:
 - 1. what assistance the administration will provide in making the required improvements
 - 2. the specific time frame within which the improvements must be made
 - 3. specific consequences the employee will face if the improvements are not made within the required time frame.
 - F. Employees shall acknowledge receipt of their written evaluation by signing at the bottom. Such signature does not necessarily indicate agreement with the content of the evaluation, but merely indicates receipt. No employee shall be required to sign an incomplete or blank evaluation.
- 9.1 G. If the employee does not agree with any portion of the evaluation

report given to him/her, he/she shall have the right to a conference with the evaluator and to attach a written response to the evaluation report within fifteen (15) work days of receipt.

H. The employee may file a grievance for procedural reasons.

9.2 Personnel Records

- A. Personnel records are the property of the Board. Any employee shall have the right to review his/her file and have copies made of any documents contained in the file at a cost to be determined by the Superintendent not to exceed that authorized by law.
- B. Neither the Board nor any of its representatives shall establish any separate personnel file which is not available for inspection.
- C. An employee shall be permitted to see his/her District office personnel file, except for confidential letters of recommendation, upon reasonable request, and may duplicate any information in the file at his/her own cost. Any complimentary/derogatory material must be provided to the employee before the material may be placed into that employee's file.

Any material originating with the School District which is complimentary/derogatory to any employee's conduct, service, character of personality, relating to performance, shall be placed into the employee's file according to one of the following procedures:

- 1. By personal delivery If the material is provided by personal delivery to the employee, the employee shall sign a copy of the document to acknowledge that he/she has received such material. The employee's signature does not indicate agreement with the content of the material.
- 2. By witness If an employee refuses to sign the material, the supervisor may get a third party to witness that the employee has been provided the material. The witness must sign and date the material before it is placed into the personnel file.
- D. An employee has the right to answer in writing any such materials placed in his/her personnel file.

ARTICLE 10

Fair Discipline and Dismissal

- 10.1 After a probationary period as defined below, the Board and/or its representatives shall have just cause for discipline, including but not limited to, reprimand, suspension or demotion.
- 10.2 The probationary period for ten (10) month employees shall be ninety (90) working days and for twelve (12) month employees shall be one hundred and twenty (120) working days beginning the first day the employee reports for work.
 - A. When an employee is transferred or reassigned to a position with different qualifications from the one he/she now holds he/she will serve a probationary period as outlined above. In the event the employee's performance is Unsatisfactory during this probationary period he/she will be returned to a position comparable to that held prior to the change of positions.
- 10.3 The employee has the right to request Union representation when he/she is informed that a meeting with his/her facility manager may result in formal disciplinary action. Such action shall include formal reprimands, warnings, suspensions, or discharge. It is the responsibility of the employee to request representation. This section is not intended to prevent the administration from conducting appropriate investigations prior to taking disciplinary action.
- 10.4 The Superintendent is authorized to suspend an employee without pay for up to five (5) days. The School Board shall be notified immediately of such suspension.
- 10.5 The following procedure shall be used for suspension with the intent to dismiss rather than the grievance procedure outlined in the contract:
 - A. Any member of the Educational Support staff may be dismissed by the School Board during his/her term of appointment, when a recommendation for dismissal is made by the Superintendent, giving good and sufficient reasons. Good and sufficient reasons shall include but not be limited to:
 - a. Insubordination
 - b. Neglect of duty
 - c. Absence without leave
 - d. Unsatisfactory work performance
 - e. Misuse of School Board property or equipment
 - f. Violation of School Board Rules
 - g. Operating a District vehicle while impaired by alcohol or drugs

- B. Prior to making a recommendation for dismissal, the Superintendent shall investigate the charges or reasons for the proposed action and conduct an informal hearing at which time the employee, and/or his/her representative, shall have an opportunity to refute the charges or provide additional information or evidence. The Superintendent shall give the employee not less than forty-eight (48) hours notice of the informal hearing.
- C. The Superintendent and/or his/her representative is authorized to suspend, with intent to dismiss, an employee with pay until the next regular or special meeting of the Board. The School Board shall be notified immediately of such suspension.
- D. The School Board, prior to taking final action on the Superintendent's recommendation, shall conduct an evidentiary hearing as outlined in Chapter 120, Florida Statutes.
- E. No member of the Educational Support staff may be dismissed except by action of the School Board.
- 10.6 Educational Support personnel not employed in continuous employment will be employed on an annual basis by the School Board. At the expiration of this annual employment there will be no guarantee of a position for the coming year. If the position will be available for the next year, the employee may be considered for another year. If his/her services are non-renewed, he/she shall be notified, in writing, of his/her employment status by June 1 for 12 month employees and by May 1 for all other employees.
- 10.7 Employees who after serving three (3) consecutive years on an annual basis as full-time Education Support Personnel with overall satisfactory evaluations for those years and who are recommended by the Superintendent and approved by the School Board shall be employed on a continuous basis. Educational Support Personnel who are employed one (1) day over half the contract year will receive credit for one (1) year.

Employees who are initially employed on a grant or limited funding source with a specified end date will not be placed on continuous employment unless they transfer to a non-grant position. Such conditions must be contained in the advertisement for grant funded position. When the grant's funding ends a continuous contract employee will revert to the job classification held when the continuous employment status was obtained.

Reduction in Force/ Hours

- 11.1 When the School Board through specific action declares a reduction in the number of full-time employees in the District the following procedure shall be followed:
 - A. A decision will be made by the Superintendent as to the number of employees to be placed in layoff by job title.
 - B. In each job title the employee with the least amount of continuous service in the district will be placed in layoff first.
 - C. No new employee will be employed in a job title where an employee is still in layoff.
 - D. The most senior laid-off employee will be recalled first within each job title.
 - E. Employees in layoff (up to twelve (12) months) shall maintain their status as an employee on unpaid leave for the purposes of self-pay insurance and seniority accrual.
- 11.2 When the principal/site manager determines the need to reduce the hours of any continuous contract employee at a given site, the following procedure shall be followed:
 - A. No continuous contract employee will be reduced in number of hours until an effort has been made to accommodate the need for reduced hours by reducing the number of hours allocated to annual employees within the affected job classification.
 - B. Should the need for reduction in hours of continuous contract employees remain, the following procedure shall apply:
 - In each job title, reduction of hours shall be accomplished by seniority within the district with the least senior receiving the cut. Likewise, when hours are restored, the restoration is by seniority with the most senior being the first to receive a restoration of hours.

- 2. No new annual contract employee will be hired in a given job title until continuous contract employees working under reduced hours in that classification have had their hours restored.
- 3. No annual contract employee shall be given additional hours in a given job classification until continuous contract employees working under reduced hours in that classification have had their hours restored.

Temporary Duty, Leaves of Absence, and Holidays

- 12.1 Annual leave shall be applied for at least five (5) working days in advance of the date leave is to commence.
- 12.2 Leaves may be taken in increments of one hour.
- 12.3 Employees may be assigned by the District to be temporarily absent from their regular duties and places of employment with pay and substitutes, if necessary. Such assignments may be initiated by the employee through the facility manager. Employees may be granted expenses as prescribed by School Board Policies.

12.4 Paid Leaves:

A. Sick Leave

Sick leave is defined as personal illness or disability of the employee or illness or death of a member of the immediate family. "Immediate family" shall be defined as a spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, parent-in-law, other close relative, or any relative or dependent who resides within the employee's household.

Each employee employed on a full-time basis shall be entitled to four (4) days of sick leave as of the last day of the first month of employment of each contract year and shall thereafter earn one day of sick leave for each month of employment, which shall be credited to the member at the end of the month and which shall not be used prior to the time it is earned and credited to the member; provided, that the member shall be entitled to earn no more than one (1) day of sick leave times the number of months of employment during the year of employment; provided, that such leave shall be taken only when necessary because of sickness as herein described. Such sick leave shall be cumulative from year to year, and provided further, there shall be no limit on the number of days of sick leave an employee may accrue.

In the event that five (5) or more consecutive sick leave days are necessary, the employee may, at the request of the appropriate supervisor, be required to provide verification of illness. In certain circumstances, employees who are habitually absent may be required by his/her immediate supervisor to provide verification of illness upon request. This may be earlier than five (5) days as outlined above. The employee shall be notified in advance when the requirement to provide verification earlier than 5 days is to be requested.

Any full-time employee may donate his or her accrued sick leave to any other full-time employee of the District subject to School Board policy.

B. Outside Accumulation

Unused accumulated sick leave acquired by an employee in another Florida school district shall be accepted in Bay County according to the terms of this paragraph as follows: For each day of sick leave earned by said transferring employee in this school district, said employee shall be entitled to another day of credit from the verified accumulated sick leave in another Florida school district.

C. Personal Leave

Each employee shall be entitled to six (6) days leave for personal reasons each school year. Such leave shall be charged to the employee's accrued sick leave and shall not be cumulative. Personal leave may not be taken on the work days preceding or following a holiday except with the approval of the facility manager. If Bay Base is open during a period of time that the remainder of the School System is closed, Bay Base employees must be preapproved by their supervisor five days in advance of the time the School System is closed in order to take personal leave during this time. Employees will not be required to give reasons for personal leave.

D. Illness-In-Line-Of-Duty

Any employee shall be entitled to illness-in-the-line-of-duty with full pay when the employee has to be absent from his/her duties because of personal injury received in the discharge of duty or because of illness from any contagious or infectious disease contracted at their work site. Such leave shall not exceed ten (10) work days during any school year and must be applied for within five (5) work days of returning to work. Use of such leave shall result in no reduction of the employee's accumulated sick leave. If an employee is absent more than ten (10) days the following options shall be available:

- 1. Continue the Workers' Compensation benefits.
- 2. Substitute sick/annual leave in place of Workers' Compensation benefits.

E. Verification of Leave

The necessary forms for verification of the reasons for absence will be available in each facility office. The immediate supervisor shall have the forms available for the employee's completion and/or signature on the day the employee returns to work. Employees must complete the forms the first day they return to work.

F. Jury Duty

Any employee called for jury duty during school hours or who is subpoenaed to testify during school hours in any judicial or administrative matter shall be entitled to full salary for such time. (This does not apply to plaintiffs.)

G. Annual Leave

All personnel on a 12 month basis shall be entitled to annual leave cumulative to no more than 480 hours at the end of any fiscal year. In instances when the employee cannot use the accumulated leave due to the action of the Board, the hours accumulated shall be unlimited.

The annual leave allowance shall be*:

- 4 hours monthly......0-4 year employees
- 6 hours monthly......5-9 year employees
- 8 hours monthly......10-14 year employees
- 10 hours monthly......15 years and up employees

*These hours are based on an 8 hour scheduled work day; therefore, 12 month employees who work less than 8 hours would receive a pro-rated amount.

Employees that were twelve month employees who were involuntarily reassigned are at liberty to take their annual leave as if they were still on a twelve month contract. Both parties recognize that earned annual leave can be taken by any employee as outlined with the BESPA contract.

Credit for annual leave shall be posted as of the last day of each month. Annual leave shall be scheduled so there will be minimum disruption of the school system. Annual leave shall not be earned while an employee is on Workers' Compensation.

Upon termination, employees shall be paid for unused annual leave accumulated prior to June 30, 1994 up to 408 hours. Such payment shall be made at the rate of pay by which the person was paid on June 30, 1994.

In the event of death of the employee, payment of the unused annual leave accumulated at the time of death shall be made to the person's beneficiary, estate, or as provided by law. The employer will provide at least fourteen (14) days notice of the cancellation of annual leave.

An employee who earns annual leave and changes his/her job classification to a position that does not earn annual leave, must use the leave before the beginning date of the new position. In instances when that is not possible, such accumulation shall be carried by the Board until the employee returns to a job classification which earns annual leave or terminates employment with the District at which time the accumulated leave shall be treated as though the employee had continued to hold a position which earned annual leave.

Years of service for the purpose of computing annual leave shall be interpreted to mean the years service as an employee of the Bay County School Board in a full-time (52 weeks annually) position. Years service in positions of employment with the Bay County School Board of less than 52 weeks annually do not qualify for annual leave and that service will not be considered when an employee transfers to a 52-week position.

H. Military Leave

All officers or employees of the School Board who are commissioned reserve officers or reserve enlisted personnel in the United States military or naval service or members of the National Guard, shall be entitled to leave of absence from their respective duties, without loss of pay, time or efficiency rating, on all days during which they shall be engaged in field or coast defense exercise or other training ordered under the provisions of the United States military or naval training regulations for such personnel when assigned to active duty; provided that leaves of absence granted as a matter of legal right under the provisions of this section shall not exceed 17 days in any one annual period; provided, further, that leaves of absence for additional or longer periods of time without pay for assignment to duty with civilian conservation corps units or other functions of a military character may be granted shall have the force and effect of other leaves of absence authorized by this section.

Copies of all official orders are required to be provided to the Human Resources Department.

I. In the event the facility manager closes the facility and the employee does not wish to take annual leave or unpaid leave the employer will find the employee a job within the District.

12.5 Unpaid Leaves:

A. Maternal/Paternal Leave

A maternity/paternity leave of absence without pay shall be granted to an employee for the purpose of child bearing and/or child rearing as follows:

- 1. An employee has up until the birth of his/her child to apply for paternity/maternity leave. The employee has the following leave options for maternity/paternity leave:
 - a. Thirty (30) working days
 - b. Sixty (60) working days
 - c. An academic semester
 - d. Two academic semesters

An employee who is pregnant may continue in active employment as late into her pregnancy as she desires, provided, upon the request of her immediate supervisor, her physician certifies that she is able to properly perform her required assignment.

2. Upon request, an employee adopting a child may request leave at the time of receiving de facto custody of said child, or prior to receiving such custody, if necessary in order to fulfill the requirements for adoption. This leave shall not be more than one (1) year.

B. Child Care Leave

Unpaid leave of one (1) school year or the balance of a school year shall be granted for child care, provided that such leave is substantiated by a physician's recommendation. Other types of child care leave may be approved by the Superintendent. While on child care leave, no individual shall take additional employment outside the school system.

C. Enhanced Personal Leave

Continuous contract employees may be granted enhanced personal leave without pay up to one (1) year with the approval of the Superintendent. A request for additional leave will be granted on a case-by-case basis. A valid reason explaining the circumstances and necessity for such leave shall be submitted. Annual contract employees may be granted enhanced personal leave for professional improvement in the field of education.

D. Overused Sick Leave

In the event an employee uses up his/her sick leave, he/she may apply for overused sick leave for the employee's illness or to care for a member of the employee's immediate family who is ill. A doctor's statement of the employee's inability to work or family member's incapacity may be required. Holidays shall not be earned while an employee is on overused sick leave. Insurance will be paid in accordance with the Family Medical Leave Law.

E. Personal Leave

Employees may be granted personal leave without pay up to a maximum of ten (10) working days per school year.

12.6 Return from Leave

An employee granted unpaid leave pursuant to this article shall have the following reemployment rights:

- A. Leave granted pursuant to this article shall not extend beyond the end of the school year in which said leave is granted.
- B. The employee must notify the Human Resources Department not later than March 1, in writing, of his/her intent to return the next school year. Failure to notify the Human Resources Department by March 1 shall result in loss of any and all employment rights the employee may have had. The Board shall supply a list of employees on approved leave to the Union on or before February 15. Any unpaid leave applied for after March 1 must include a letter of intent as to whether the employee will return, or not return, to work.
- C. The employee shall be returned to his/her former position if a vacancy exists or to a substantially equivalent position.

12.7 Family Medical Leave

A. Eligibility:

All full-time employees covered by this agreement who have worked for the Board at least twelve (12) months preceding the start of leave may be entitled to a total of twelve (12) work weeks of leave during any twelve (12) month period when leave is taken for one or more of the following circumstances:

- 1. The birth of a son or daughter of a employee and to care for the child.
- 2. The placement of a son or daughter with a employee for adoption or foster care.
- 3. To care for the spouse, son, daughter or parent of a employee, if the family member has a serious health

condition.

4. The employee is unable to perform the functions of the position because of the educational support personnel's own serious health condition.

A "serious health condition" is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves: (1) inpatient care at a hospital, hospice or residential medical care facility; or (2) continuing treatment by a health care provider.

In the case of the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care, the employee's entitlement to leave expires at the end of the twelve (12) month period beginning on the date of the birth or placement.

Leave Year: An eligible employee is entitled to take up to twelve (12) weeks of FMLA leave in any twelve (12) month period to be measured forward from the first date of leave.

Where both spouses work for the Board, their total, combined leave in any twelve (12) month period is limited to twelve (12) weeks if leave is taken for the birth or adoption of a child.

B. Intermittent or Reduced Schedule Leave

Intermittent Leave for Planned Medical Treatment: This leave may be taken when the employee or the spouse, child or parent of the employee has a serious medical condition and it is foreseeable that the employee will need short periods of time off. Intermittent leave may be taken in increments of one or more days or partial days, separated by increments of one or more days or partial days at work.

When medically necessary, intermittent or reduced schedule leave can be taken in cases of a serious health condition, either a employee's own or that of a family member. Intermittent or reduced leave schedule is not available for the birth or replacement of a son or daughter. Employees seeking intermittent or reduced schedule leave based on planned medical treatment are required to produce medical certification outlining the dates and which treatment is expected and the duration of the treatment. Employees are expected to make a reasonable effort, subject to the

health care provider's approval, to schedule treatment so as to not unduly disrupt the Board's operations. Employees are also required to give the Board through the Human Resources Department, thirty (30) days notice or as much notice as is practicable of their intentions.

In the event a employee requests intermittent or reduced schedule leave due to a family member's or the employee's own serious health condition, the employee may be transferred by the Board to a temporary alternative job for which the employee is qualified and which better accommodates the Board's needs and that of the employee.

C. Notice

A minimum of thirty (30) days advance notice of an employee's intent to take leave is required when it is foreseeable because of:

- 1. The expected birth of a baby.
- 2. The expected placement of a child for adoption or foster care.
- 3. Planned medical treatment for a son, daughter, spouse or parent with a serious health condition.
- 4. Planned medical treatment in case of the employee's own serious health condition.

If leave has to begin in less than thirty (30) days as a result of one of the above referenced circumstances, the employee still must provide the Board, through its Human Resources Department, with advance notice as is practicable.

D. Certification

When leave is requested based on a family member's or employee's own serious health condition, the employee must provide, in writing, a medical certification of the condition and the need for leave from the employee's health care provider within ten (10) days of the written request for leave. The certification must contain:

- 1. The date the serious health condition began.
- 2. The probable duration of the condition.
- 3. The appropriate medical facts regarding the condition which are within the knowledge of the health care provider.
- 4. Where leave is based on care of a spouse, child or parent, a

statement that the employee is needed to provide the care and an estimate of the amount of time that the need will continue.

- 5. Where leave is based on the employee's own serious health condition, a statement that the employee is unable to perform the functions of his/her job.
- 6. Where intermittent or reduced leave is sought for planned medical treatment, a declaration from the health care provider stating that this kind of leave is medically necessary, the dates that the treatment is expected to be given and the duration of the treatment.

The certification will be treated as a confidential medical record.

E. Recertification

An employee who has taken leave because of a serious health condition or that of a family member is required by the Board to obtain subsequent written recertification of the medical condition every five (5) weeks during the duration of the condition. The Board also requires an employee, or his/her representative, on leave under this provision to report periodically, in writing, at least every month on his/her status and the intention of the employee to return to work.

F. Restored Employment

Eligible employee who comply with all of the family and medical leave provisions and who return from family and medical leave have the right to return to the job position that they held when they went on leave, or they may be placed, in the discretion of the Board, in an equivalent position with equivalent benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment. (While on leave, eligible employee will retain all accrued benefits.) Restored employees returning from family and medical leave, are not entitled to accrue seniority or employment benefits during any period of leave. Restored employees are not entitled to any right, benefit or position of employment other than any to which they would have been entitled had they not taken leave.

As a condition to restoring a employee whose leave was based on the employee's own serious health condition, each returning employee is required to provide, in writing, to the Human Resources Department a certification from the employee's health provider stating that the employee is able to resume work.

G. Maintenance of Benefits

The Board will maintain group health plan coverage for employees on family and medical leave for the duration of the eligible employee's leave. Coverage will be provided on the same level and under the same conditions that coverage would have been provided if no leave had been taken.

In the event an employee fails to return to work after the period of leave expires, the Board may recover any such premiums the Board paid for coverage during the leave period. Such recovery can be taken from any benefits or wages owed by the Board to the employee.

In the event, however, that the employee fails to return to work because of the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of a family member or the employee's own serious health condition that would otherwise entitle the employee to take leave, or due to other circumstances beyond the control of the employee, the Board will not attempt to recover such premium. In this circumstance, the employee is required to provide in writing to the Human Resources Department, a certification from the employee's health care provider to that effect.

Any employee who is on unpaid leave pursuant to this article and who desires continuing insurance policies provided by the Board shall be eligible for participating in the program and shall pay the premium for same.

12.9 Holidays

- A. All full-time educational support personnel employed at least 24 weeks, but less than 52 weeks, are entitled to six (6) paid holidays each year.
- B. All full-time personnel employed for 52 weeks are entitled to ten (10) paid holidays each year.
- C. Employees, while on Workers' Compensation, will not earn holidays.
- D. All part-time employees are entitled to the following paid holidays each year: Christmas Day and New Year's Day.

Use of Private Vehicles

- 13.1 Employees who may be required to use their own automobiles in the performance of their duties, and employees who are assigned to more than one (1) work site per day, shall be reimbursed for all driving done between arrival at the first location at the beginning of their work day and departure from the last location at the end of their workday. The rate per mile shall be as provided by School Board Policy.
- 13.2 Employees who may be required, in the performance of their duties, to travel out of Bay County shall be reimbursed for the use of their private automobile up to a maximum as provided by School Board Policy, provided other county transportation is not available. All other expenses (meals, travel, lodging, etc.) will be reimbursed in accordance with School Board Policy. Whenever possible, the District shall arrange to minimize the reimbursable expenses for the employee.
- 13.3 No employee shall be required to transport, in his/her private vehicle, hazardous and/or potentially damaging materials.

Benefits

14.1 Retirement (Terminal Pay)

A. Educational Support Personnel of the Bay District Schools will be paid terminal pay for accumulated sick leave at retirement, in accordance with Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) or to his/her beneficiary if terminated by death.

In order to receive benefits under this section the employee must retire and be eligible to receive full or reduced benefits under the retirement criteria of the Florida Division of Retirement of the Department of Administration. The calculation of terminal pay shall not be based on any accumulated sick leave credits in excess of that earned as an employee of Bay District Schools.

Any person entitled to terminal pay benefits shall have been under contract to render services for the pay period immediately preceding retirement or death and shall not be under suspension from duty except for reasons pertaining to health, or have any charges pending which could result in dismissal from employment.

All payments of terminal pay for accumulated sick leave shall be computed by using the hourly/daily rate of pay of the employee at the time of retirement, multiplied by the total number of eligible accumulated sick leave days.

- B. Terminal pay shall not exceed an amount determined as follows:
 - 1. During the first three (3) years of service in the Bay District Schools, the applicable hourly rate of pay multiplied by thirty-five percent (35%) times the number of hours of accumulated sick leave.
 - 2. During the next three (3) years of service in the Bay District Schools, the applicable hourly rate of pay multiplied by forty percent (40%) times the number of hours of accumulated sick leave.
 - 3. During the next three (3) years of service in the Bay District Schools, the applicable hourly rate of pay multiplied by forty-five percent (45%) times the number of hours of accumulated sick leave.

- 4. During the next three (3) years of service in the Bay District Schools, the applicable hourly rate of pay multiplied by fifty percent (50%) times the number of hours of accumulated sick leave.
- 5. During and after the thirteenth (13th) year of service, the applicable hourly rate of pay multiplied by one hundred percent (100%) times the number of hours of accumulated sick leave.

14.2 Workers' Compensation

Injuries in line of duty to Educational Support personnel employed by the School Board are covered by Workers' Compensation insurance and must be reported to the facility manager within twenty-four (24) hours of the time of injury. The proper form must be filed whether or not a doctor has been consulted.

- 14.3 Educational Support Personnel who have retired and are newly hired beginning with 2009-2010 school year shall not receive credit on the salary schedule for years of experience that have been used by the employee to qualify for retirement, whether in Florida or outside the State.
- 14.4 The Board will offer a retirement incentive for support personnel on Continuous Employment Contract if the following conditions are met:
 - A. The employee has worked for Bay District Schools for a minimum of twenty (20) years.
 - B. The employee is eligible to retire under the State Retirement System and has never entered in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP), nor previously retired from the Florida Retirement System, OR
 - C. If the employee is in the DROP, he/she must have been in DROP for no more than 48 months.

If the above conditions are met the Board will pay the employee a bonus equivalent to 10% of their base salary (supplement not included). Retirement benefits would not apply to this payment and no payment will be made prior to July 1 of the fiscal year after the employee retires.

The employee must submit his/her retirement form to the Human Resources Department no later than May 1.

- 14.5 Retro-active to the start of the second quarter, October 22, 2015, full or part time bus drivers for Bay District Schools who possess a CDL and are actively driving a bus will be eligible for an attendance incentive of \$125 at the end of each 9 week grading period based on the following qualifications:
 - A. No more than one personal or sick leave day during that nine-week grading period.
 - B. Leave associated with a death in the immediate family as defined in Article 12.4A will not disqualify a driver.
 - C. Jury duty will not disqualify a driver.

Drivers who believe they qualify must submit a Request for Review of Attendance Incentive to the Director of Transportation or his designee within 10 work days from the end of the nine-week period.

- 14.6 A bus driver for Bay District Schools who possesses a CDL and is actively driving a bus will be eligible for a safe driver incentive of \$150 at the end of the school fiscal year based on the qualifications below:
 - A. Employed during all of the student days of school year.
 - B. No traffic citations in a personal or BDS vehicle during the school fiscal year.
 - C. No at-fault accidents in a personal or BDS vehicle during the school fiscal year.

At-fault determination recommendations will be made by an Accident Review Committee. This committee will consist of Fleet Service Manager, Safety Officer/Trainer, and one bus driver member appointed annually by the BESPA President. The committee will recommend non-binding atfault determinations to the Transportation Director who will be responsible for the final decision.

- 1. Employed during all of the student days of school year.
- 2. No traffic citations in a personal or BDS vehicle during the school fiscal year.
- 3. No at-fault accidents in a personal or BDS vehicle during the school fiscal year.

At-fault determination recommendations will be made by an Accident Review Committee. This committee will consist of Fleet Service Manager, Safety Officer/Trainer, and one bus driver member appointed annually by the BESPA President. The committee will recommend non-binding atfault determinations to the Transportation Director who will be responsible for the final decision.

14.7 Effective upon full ratification of this agreement, upon initial hiring an individual employed as a bus driver with a CDL and actively driving a bus will earn a one-time bonus of \$100 after 45 working days of employment. After 90 working days of employment said driver will receive a second one-time bonus also of \$100.

Insurance

15.1 The Board shall provide to full-time Educational Support Employees basic comprehensive, hospital - medical - obstetrical, major medical and group life insurance protection for a twelve (12) month period. The Board shall pay a maximum per 2020 calendar year of eight thousand one hundred eighty-two dollars and 92/100 (\$8,182.92) for such coverage. (Group health \$8,080.92, Group life \$102.00). In the event the Board offers an insurance plan option that costs less than the amounts referenced above, the Board will pay only the actual cost associated with that plan's design. If the employee selects a plan option whose design includes a Health Savings Account (HSA), the Board will contribute the difference between the Board's group health contribution and the cost of the employee only HSA plan to the employee's HSA for the 2020 calendar year.

Plans for additional coverage will be made available to the employee at his/her expense.

15.2 Ten (10) Month Personnel - The employee portion of insurance premium deductions of Educational Support Personnel will be deducted in twenty (20) installments for the ten (10) months of coverage in which employee is actually working. Beginning with the first payment in December and continuing for the next 12 payments, a deduction equivalent to 1/12 of the employee portion of insurance premiums for the two (2) months in the summer will be applied. These are titled Summer Insurance Deductions.

Twelve (12) Month Personnel – The employee portion of insurance premium deductions of Educational Support Personnel will be deducted in twenty-four (24) installments.

A schedule outlining the insurance premium deductions for the year will be detailed in the Payroll Schedule document. Any premium deducted but not needed for coverage will be refunded to the applicable individual. Bay District Schools reserves the right to make necessary adjustments to the deduction amount.

- 15.3 The Board shall make available, through payroll deduction, tax deferred annuity programs to all employees in the district. Such programs shall be selected by the employee choosing to participate.
- 15.4 Individual insurance coverage for employees will be maintained by the

Board in compliance with Article 12.8 of this contract.

15.5 The Board presently offers a "Cafeteria Benefits Plan". This plan shall be available to support personnel employees. Any material change in the plan shall be subject to negotiations.

Miscellaneous

- 16.1 This agreement between the Board and the employees, represented by the Union, may be changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through negotiated, written and signed amendments to this Agreement. The Board retains all rights not specifically included in this Agreement.
- 16.2 If any provisions of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any employee is held to be contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- 16.3 The provisions of this Agreement shall become part of the established policies of the Board. Board policies which affect wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment shall not be inconsistent with this Agreement.
- 16.4 The Board agrees that it will not, during the period of Agreement, officially adopt nor implement any term or condition of employment which conflicts with the provisions of the Agreement.
- 16.5 Employees shall not be required to attend meetings for which the purpose of said meeting is solicitation.
- 16.6 All support personnel shall self-report within 48 hours to the Superintendent's office any arrests/charges involving the abuse of children or the sale and/or possession of a controlled substance. In addition, all support personnel shall self-report to the Superintendent any conviction, finding of guilt, withholding of adjudication, commitment to a pretrial diversion program, entering of a plea of guilty or Nolo Contendere for any criminal offense other than a minor traffic violation within 48 hours after final judgment.

Political Activity

- 17.1 All employees shall have liberty of political action when not engaged actively in their employment provided such action is within the laws of the United States of America and the State of Florida.
- 17.2 The right of all employees to work and to vote for the party and candidates of their choice shall never be questioned, abridged, or denied when not actively engaged in their employment.
- 17.3 All employees shall be free from political domination or coercion.

Work Load

The work load for employees shall be based on what can reasonably be accomplished within their regular hours.

Compensation

19.1 All employees covered by this agreement shall be paid in accordance with job classification and recognized experience from the wage schedules included in this agreement. All employees must receive an overall evaluation rating of "Effective" or "Highly Effective" in order to qualify for a salary increase. Such increases are not automatic but will be determined through negotiations. For the 2019-2020_school year all employees who received ratings of "Effective" or "Highly Effective" on the previous year's evaluation and who are actively employed on the date of the 2019-2020 contract ratification will receive a 3.0% raise. Such raise will be retroactive to July 1, 2019. For the 2020-2021 school year all employees who received ratings of "Effective" or "Highly Effective" on the previous year's evaluation will receive a 3.0% raise when evaluations are available. The raise will be retroactive to the beginning of the school year.

On July 1, 2020, all rates on the support placement schedule will be increased by 2.5%.

2019-2020 District Bonus Offer:

- The District will give a \$1,500 one-time bonus to each full-time support staff member that is employed on the 2019-2020 date of ratification and has worked one day more than half of the employee's contracted year in FY 2018-2019.
- The District will give a \$1,000 one-time bonus to each full-time support staff member that is employed on the 2019-2020 date of ratification and did not work one day more than half of the employee's contracted year in FY 2018-2019.
- Each part-time support staff member that is employed on the 2019-2020 date of ratification will receive a half-share of the correlating bonus detailed above.

Note: An employee can only qualify for one of the bonuses listed above. Bonus amount is actual bonus. The District is taking care of the employer tax on bonuses. The employee's portion of taxes will be deducted before distribution.

19.2 Upon initial employment, employees shall be notified of and may be granted verified related experience up to fifteen (15) years including a maximum of three (3) years military. More than one-half (1/2) of the number of days in the contract period during the school year must be

completed to be entitled to a year's credit.

- 19.3 Employees assigned beyond a forty (40) hour work week shall be compensated at time and one-half their regular hourly rate of pay. All over time hours must be approved ahead of time by the Superintendent or his designee.
- 19.4 Employees shall be paid as per agreement with Union as follows:
 - A. All full-time, twelve (12) month employees will receive twenty-four (24) equalized payments on the sixteenth and the last calendar day of each month. All other employees shall be paid twice monthly on the sixteenth and the last calendar day of each month.
 - B. All full-time, twelve (12) month employees with properly approved and authorized voluntary deductions, including union dues, will be deducted over twenty-four (24) payments.
 - C. Full-time, ten (10) month employees with properly approved and authorized voluntary deductions, including union dues, will be deducted over twenty (20) payments. For the 2018-2019 school year, Bay District School Bus Drivers will be given the option of receiving payment over a twenty-four (24) check payment cycle. Guidelines are in APPENDIX A.

In the event of a rate change during the fiscal year, the new rates will be deducted from the remainder of the payments from the date of notification.

D. Employee's payment report shall reflect the actual number of hours worked and the amount of paid/unpaid leave utilized.

19.5 Compensatory time shall be:

- a. Only granted for assigned duty or for other activities pre-approved by the principal or supervisor
- b. Granted only for activities that are beyond the assigned, everyday duties of the employee and extend beyond the assigned workday
- c. Used at times when the employee has no student supervisory responsibilities and with the prior approval of the principal or supervisor

Compensatory time not used by the last workday of the school fiscal year shall be forfeited. Compensatory hours may not be used as payout at termination.

19.6 Funds received by the District as part of the Best and Brightest

Recognition program shall be allocated as follows:

- A. After the allocated District portion of the Best and Brightest Retention and Recruitment Awards have been distributed, 30% of any remaining funds shall go to Instructional Paraprofessionals.
- B. Instructional Paraprofessionals who worked more than 90 days and were rated Highly Effective or Effective based on their evaluation for the previous year shall receive an equal share of the available funds.
- C. Instructional Paraprofessionals who worked more than 90 days in the District in the previous school year, but who did not receive an evaluation rating shall be considered Effective for the purposes of this bonus.
- D. No Instructional Paraprofessionals may qualify for more than one Best and Brightest Award in 2019-2020.

Transportation Employees

- 20.1 Bus drivers shall be paid for actual time worked.
 - A. All bus drivers will be hired for a minimum of four (4) hours including one (1) hour for related duties. Related duties shall include but not be limited to the following:
 - 1. Pre-trip inspection
 - 2. Washing bus (1 time per month)
 - 3. Cleaning bus at the end of route
 - 4. Monthly inspection
 - 5. Creation/submission of FEFP Reports
 - 6. Creation of bus seating charts
 - 7. Writing student discipline reports
 - 8. Bus refueling
 - 9. Participation in random drug testing
 - 10. Participation in monthly inservice meetings

In the event the actual driving time exceeds three (3) hours plus one (1) hour for related duties, the driver's salary shall be based on actual driving time plus one (1) hour for related duties. The Director of Transportation has the authority to utilize part of the related duty hour for meetings. Such meetings shall not exceed two hours per month and shall require 48 hours advance notice except in case of an emergency.

B. Definitions

- "Driving time" is defined as that time necessary to drive a school bus from a central storage location to the first student pick-up of the route and from the last student drop-off to the appropriate parking location.
- 2. "Related duties" is defined as any duty assigned or required that does not fall under the definition of driving time.
- 3. "Reposition" is movement of a year or during rerouting in the summer months.
- 4. "Rotation" is defined as assigning the most senior driver for the next available field trip. If a driver turns down the request to drive (field trip) then they move to the bottom of the field trip list.
- 20.2 Days and hours of other transportation employees will be recommended by the budget administrator.

20.3 Field Trip Procedures

- A. Employees may be employed in addition to their regular duties to drive school buses for field trips and other extracurricular activities, providing they hold the proper license. Regular bus drivers will be paid at their regular rate and substitute drivers will be paid at a substitute rate for field trips and extracurricular activities.
- B. Bus drivers wishing to drive for field trips and other extracurricular activities may be considered by completing a request to be placed on a list for field trips or other extracurricular activities. Drivers will be assigned field trips by rotation, based upon their accepted options from the list (B1). If a driver turns down the initial request to drive a field trip then they will be placed at the bottom of the field trip list. Drivers will not be eligible for driving field trips unless:
 - 1. Driving the field trip does not interfere with completion of their regular assigned route/duties or
 - 2. The Director of Transportation or his/her designee approves the use of a substitute to drive the regular route.

In either case outlined above the driver would not lose their spot on the field trip list if deemed ineligible.

- 1. Field trip lists will be coded for:
 - a. Between Routes (BR)
 - b. In-town trips (local after school) (ITT)
 - c. Holidays (6 paid, see Contract 12.9) (HOL)
 - d. Holiday overnight (6 paid, see Contract 12.9) (HOLOVN)
 - e. Day off-(weekdays when schools are closed) (DO)
 - f. Weekends (WE)
 - g. Weekend overnight (WEOVN)
 - h. Out of town (OOT)
 - i. Out of town overnight (OOTOVN)
- C. There will be two (2) documented attempts over a period of two (2) days to contact a driver. If an answering machine is contacted, a message will be left to call the Transportation office. In the event of less than two days notice of a field trip is given, management will use the first available driver. Drivers who cannot be contacted because of the short notice will not lose their regular rotation. In all instances, after five (5) drivers have refused the trip or not responded, the Director of Transportation or his/her designee may assign a driver for the trip.

In the event of a short notice (two hours prior to the trip) the next eligible driver may reject without losing their position on the roster. Except in cases of emergency, in the event a bus driver fails to show for a scheduled field trip, he/she shall forfeit his/her position on that field trip roster for one rotation. Operators who fail to report for assigned trips or who regularly reject trips without legitimate reasons shall be counseled concerning whether they wish to remain on the list. Continuation of either practice shall cause an operator to be deleted from the list. In addition they will not be allowed to make up the trip they failed to show for.

- D. Management has the right to pass over drivers that would earn overtime if assigned a field trip at that time. Drivers passed over will not lose their regular rotation.
- E. All trips assigned for the previous month will be posted in the Transportation Department by the tenth of the month. Postings will show persons assigned, hours, dates and number of trips taken.
- F. Site-Based Management has the right to use school-based paraprofessionals for field trips and will pay the costs associated with the school-based paraprofessionals. School-based paraprofessionals utilized for field trips will be trained prior to the field trip in bus safety procedures. Should there not be a school-based paraprofessional who is trained in bus safety procedures, the bus paraprofessional assigned to the ESE bus will be offered the trip. If said bus paraprofessional declines the trip, the most senior bus paraprofessional will be assigned the trip if available by field trip scheduled departure time. Otherwise, the Transportation Director will assign a qualified bus paraprofessional.
- 20.4. Transportation positions available for summer employment for bus drivers shall be filled as follows:
 - A. Available positions shall be posted on the district web-site at least one week prior to the start of summer school.
 - B. Applicants from within the school District shall be afforded the first opportunity to apply for the available positions.
 - C. Seniority among current employees shall be the determining criteria for the filling of the available positions. If a driver is assigned a position and a grant position later becomes available a driver may apply in writing for the posted grant position.

D. Management reserves the right to assign drivers the routes involving medically complex children without regard to seniority. Medically complex children are defined as children who are health impaired children that have a physical condition which is chronic in nature. Criteria for selection of such drivers shall be experience transporting medically complex children and/or special training relating to providing services to medically complex children.

20.5 Repositioning of drivers:

- A. Employees desiring to reposition may submit a written request to the supervisor when an available route is posted.
- B. The supervisor will make a determination of the repositioning of drivers based on the following:
 - 1. Qualifications
 - 2. Written request
 - 3. Length of service to the district
- C. If the Transportation Director determines there is an immediate need to fill a route-position, he/she will select the best driver available at the time of the vacancy. Selected driver will fill the position until the end of the applicable quarter. At the beginning of the next quarter, the position will be advertised and filled per 20.5A and 20.5B.
- D. After an initial route vacancy, no more than two repositioning moves may occur within the current school year. At that time the remaining vacant route is available for all applicants without regard to repositioning.
- 20.6 The Transportation Director has the right to assign bus parking assignments.
- 20.7 Drivers and sub drivers are required to clean their buses throughout the school year. At the end of the year, no driver shall be required or provided the option to pay the District for bus cleaning.
- 20.8 Drivers should be given at least a 24 hour notice to bring their assigned bus to the compound.

Drug Free Workplace

The Bay County School Board's policy is to provide a drug free workplace in which employees are free from use of illegal drugs and abuse of alcohol. Any employee determined to be in violation of the policy is subject to disciplinary action as outlined below.

- A. In the event the supervisor believes a violation exists, he/she
 - (1) Shall counsel privately with the employee regarding the situation.
 - (2) Obtain the opinion of a second supervisor.
 - (3) If supervisor(s) concur, the employee may be removed from work that day. Additionally, the employee may be required to receive counseling at a medical facility, rehab facility or employee assistance plan if one is available.
 - In such events, the employer will provide safe transportation.
 - (4) In the event that such behavior reoccurs, progressive discipline will be used, unless a severe circumstance is involved.
- B. The Bay County School Board will maintain federal and state constitutional rights of all employees. Supervisors with reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee is using an illegal drug and/or using alcohol, may require a drug and/or an alcohol screening test.

C. Convictions

Any employee convicted for a violation occurring in the work place must notify the District School Superintendent of any criminal drug statute conviction in the work place no later than five (5) days after the conviction. The appropriate federal agency will be notified within ten (10) days after receiving notice from the employee or otherwise of receiving actual notice of such conviction. The District will take one of the following actions within thirty (30) days of such conviction:

- 1) Take appropriate personnel action against an employee, up to and including termination; or
- Require such employee at the employee's expense, to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by federal, state, or local health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency.
- D. The School Board shall provide a drug free work place by:
 - Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's (School Board) work place and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such prohibition;
 - 2) Establishing a drug free awareness program to inform employees about:
 - a) The dangers of drug abuse in the work place;
 - b) The grantee's (School Board) policy of maintaining a drug free work place;
 - c) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
 - d) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the work place;

Contracted Services

The Board shall have the right to contract services. If the Board chooses to contract services, the Board will include in all requests for proposals that the contractor shall interview all interested, qualified, full-time current employees in the area contracted and give them preferential consideration in the hiring process. A representative from BESPA Leadership will be a member of any task force that is appointed to consider privatization of support personnel jobs in the Bay County School District.

ARTICLE 23 Terms of Agreement

This Agreement, signed by the parties on November 13, 2019 shall have a duration extending from July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2022.

This contract will be reopened after June 30, 2022 and at the end of the first and second years of this agreement in the following areas:

- (1) Wages
- (2) Job Classification and Pay Grade
- (3) Benefits
- (4) Two items each side
- (5) Changes in the Law
- (6) Other items as mutually agreed to.

BAY EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL ASSOCIATION

BAY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

BESPA President

BESPA Executive Director

BESPA Chief Negotiator

William Husfelt, Superintendent

Syllow 10, There

APPENDIX A

For the 2019-2020 school year, Bay District School Bus Drivers will be given the option of receiving payment over a twenty-four (24) check payment cycle.

- This option must be requested in writing by the employee prior to the start of the new school year. If employee is hired after the school year has begun, the written request must be provided prior to their start date.
- This election will remain in effect for the entire school year.
 Changes will not be permitted mid-year.
- The payment cycle will start with the first check at the end of August, then on a semi-monthly basis from September through mid-June with four checks to be provided at the end of June. The employee should review the Payroll Schedule for the exact dates.
- Late start individuals who elect this option will receive payment over the remaining checks to be received by this classification.
- The per check amount will be determined as follows: Proposed hours per day x number of contract days x hourly rate of pay / 24 checks (or applicable number of checks) = Gross Per Pay Period
- (Example: 7.00 hours per work day x 182 contract days x \$12.04 per hour = \$15,338.96 Base Pay / 24 checks = \$639.12 Gross Amount Per Pay Period)
- All field trips or extra hours worked will be paid as they occur and will not be part of the annual base pay calculation.
- Individuals who are absent from work and do not have any leave will experience a dockage for the unpaid time on the appropriate pay period. Example: Absent from work one day without leave results in calculation similar to this (7.00 hours per work day x \$12.04 per hour = \$84.28 Dockage)
- Payroll deductions will be applied to all checks. Individuals should review the Payroll Schedule for additional information.
- If individual separates from service, payment to contract will occur
 on the appropriate pay period. Payment to contract will be
 determined as follows: Hours per day x number of contract days x
 hourly rate of pay amount paid to date = Payment to Contract
 Amount. In some instances, an overpayment situation could be
 applicable due to the equal check payments and therefore no
 additional payment would be due. The employee would be
 responsible for repayment of the amount received over the amount
 due.
- Change in the hours per day will result in a recalculation of the per pay period amount based upon the changes that have transpired. Amount remaining to be paid will be calculated and the amount due divided over the remaining checks to be received for this classification.

APPENDIX B EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL GRIEVANCE FORM (Available on-line)

NAME		,
		NMENT
HOME ADDRESS	HOH	ME PHONE
STEP ONE/TWO A. Date cause of grieva	ance occurred	
B. Relates to Article(s))	of contract
C. Statement of grieva	ince:	
	 Signature	Date
One (1) copy to the Union's copy show received) before Step	nion uld be forwarded immed	iately (same day grievance is
		///////////////////////////////////////
STEP I/II DISPOSITIO Disposition by Immedia		
One (1) copy to Superintendent		
One (1) copy to grievant One (1) copy to Immed. Supervisor One (1) copy to Union 1. Submit in Triplicate 2. Use Position or Title as Shown on Salary	Signature	Date



HR Use Only FP Cleared:
Board Appr.:
Entered:
Processed By:

SUPPORT RECOMMENDATION FOR TRANSFER/REASSIGNMENT

Full-time to full-time only

☐ Transfer ☐ Reassignment	Job #:
Name:	ID:
Phone: Personal Em	ail:
Effective Date of Transfer: (To be completed by Ha	man Resources) Ending Date:
FROM:	
COST CENTER NAME / NUMBER:	
Position Assignment:	Job Title Code:
Number of hours per day: Full-time = no	
Employee Type: 10 Month 12 Month Annual	Contract Days: Pay Grade:
FUND:FUNCTION:OBJECT:COST CENTER	R:PROJECT:PROGRAM:
FUND: FUNCTION: OBJECT: COST CENTER	R:PROJECT:PROGRAM:
TO:	
COST CENTER NAME / NUMBER:	
Position Assignment:	Job Title Code:
Number of hours per day: Full-time = no	ot less than 6.0 hours nor more than 8.0 hours per day)
Employee Type: 10 Month 12 Month Annual	Contract Days: Pay Grade:
FUND: FUNCTION: OBJECT: COST CENTER	R:PROJECT:PROGRAM:
FUND: FUNCTION: OBJECT: COST CENTER	R:PROJECT:PROGRAM:
Signature of Employee:	Date:
Signature of PRESENT Cost Center Administrator:	Date:
Signature of NEW Cost Center Administrator:	Date:
Signature of Executive Director of Human Resources:	Date:
Signature of Superintendent:	Date:
Approved by Bay District School Board:	

HR-SUPPTRANS 0819

-	49 1	48 1		46 1	45 1	44 1	43 1	42 1	41 1	40 1	39 1	38 1	37 1	36 1	35 1	34 1	33 1	32 1	31 1	30	29 1	28 1	27 1	26 1	25 1	24 1	23 1	22 1	21 1	20 1	19 1	18 1	17 1	16 1	-	14 1	13 1	12 1	11 1	10 1	09	08	07 1	06	05	04	03	02	01 N	PG
$\overline{}$	15.47	15.32	15.18	15.08	14.90	14.68	14.60	14.46	14.37	14.16	14.06	13.98	13.83	13.74	13.60	13.53	13.42	13.31	13.12	13.03	12.91	12.82	12.72	12.59	12.48	12.31	12.13	12.04	11.95	11.74	11.61	11.47	11.38	11.29		11.05	10.85	10.79	10.70	10.58	10.49	10.29	10.19	9.98	9.88	9.73	9.61	8.36	linimur	00
15.67	15.47	15.32	15.18	15.08	14.90	14.68	14.60	14.46	14.37	14.16	14.06	13.98	13.83	13.74	13.60	13.53	13.42	13.31	13.12	13.03	12.91	12.82	12.72	12.59	12.48	12.31	12.13	12.04	11.95	11.74	11.61	11.47	11.38	11.29	11.18	11.05	10.85	10.79	10.70	10.58	10.49	10.29	10.19	9.98	9.88	9.73	9.61	8.36	Minimum Wage	01
15.67	15.47	15.32	15.18	15.08	14.90	14.68	14.60	14.46	14.37	14.16	14.06	13.98	13.83	13.74	13.60	13.53	13.42	13.31	13.12	13.03	12.91	12.82	12.72	12.59	12.48	12.31	12.13	12.04	11.95	11.74	11.61	11.47	11.38	11.29	11.18	11.05	10.85	10.79	10.70	10.58	10.49	10.29	10.19	9.98	9.88	9.73	9.61	8.36		02
15.67	15.47	15.32	15.18	15.08	14.90	14.68	14.60	14.46	14.37	14.16	14.06	13.98	13.83	13.74	13.60	13.53	13.42	13.31	13.12	13.03	12.91	12.82	12.72	12.59	12.48	12.31	12.13	12.04	11.95	11.74	11.61	11.47	11.38	11.29	11.18	11.05	10.85	10.79	10.70	10.58	10.49	10.29	10.19	9.98	9.88	9.73	9.61	8.36		03
15.72	15.52	15.37	15.23	15.13	14.96	14.74	14.65	14.51	14.42	14.21	14.11	14.03	13.89	13.79	13.65	13.59	13.47	13.36	13.17	13.08	12.96	12.88	12.77	12.64	12.55	12.36	12.18	12.10	12.00	11.79	11.67	11.53	11.43	11.34	11.24	11.10	10.90	10.85	10.75	10.63	10.54	10.35	10.24	10.03	9.94	9.79	9.66	8.42		04
15.78	15.57	15.42	15.30	15.19	15.02	14.79	14.70	14.56	14.47	14.27	14.17	14.08	13.95	13.86	13.71	13.64	13.53	13.42	13.24	13.13	13.04	12.93	12.82	12.69	12.61	12.42	12.25	12.15	12.05	11.85	11.72	11.59	11.48	11.39	11.30	11.15	10.96	10.90	10.83	10.68	10.59	10.40	10.30	10.08	10.00	9.85	9.71	8.50		05
16.16	16.09	15.84	15.68	15.59	15.41	15.22	15.04	14.93	14.83	14.68	14.56	14.43	14.32	14.20	14.08	14.00	13.83	13.77	13.56	13.43	13.37	13.21	13.15	12.97	12.90	12.73	12.57	12.43	12.30	12.19	11.96	11.89	11.76	11.60	11.56	11.43	11.24	11.12	11.03	10.94	10.78	10.64	10.48	10.35	10.16	10.08	9.95	8.84		06
16.64	16.57	16.32	16.15	16.06	15.87	15.68	15.49	15.38	15.27	15.12	15.00	14.86	14.75	14.63	14.50	14.42	14.24	14.18	13.97	13.83	13.77	13.61	13.54	13.36	13.29	13.11	12.95	12.80	12.67	12.56	12.32	12.25	12.11	11.95	11.91	11.77	11.58	11.45	11.36	11.27	11.10	10.96	10.79	10.66	10.46	10.38	10.25	9.11		07
16.96	16.74	16.60	16.40	16.28	16.12	15.95	15.77	15.66	15.49	15.33	15.24	15.13	15.01	14.86	14.74	14.62	14.50	14.40	14.18	14.08	13.94	13.83	13.77	13.57	13.47	13.32	13.12	13.00	12.90	12.69	12.56	12.34	12.29	12.20	12.04	11.94	11.74	11.60	11.49	11.40	11.30	11.10	10.96	10.79	10.65	10.46	10.38	9.29		80
17.25	17.03	16.89	16.63	16.57	16.33	16.16	16.02	15.89	15.73	15.57	15.41	15.33	15.24	15.09	14.97	14.85	14.69	14.55	14.42	14.24	14.15	14.05	13.92	13.80	13.69	13.47	13.32	13.20	13.05	12.90	12.69	12.57	12.48	12.31	12.24	12.09	11.93	11.78	11.63	11.54	11.43	11.30	11.09	10.94	10.75	10.65	10.48	9.50		09
17.47	17.30	17.07	16.93	16.74	16.61	16.40	16.24	16.11	15.98	15.78	15.67	15.57	15.41	15.31	15.18	15.08	14.92	14.79	14.62	14.48	14.39	14.21	14.13	13.98	13.85	13.69	13.53	13.35	13.24	13.05	12.90	12.74	12.60	12.55	12.34	12.28	12.04	11.94	11.83	11.68	11.58	11.43	11.28	11.07	10.88	10.75	10.66	9.72		10
17.73	17.55	17.33	17.15	17.03	16.90	16.63	16.47	16.32	16.21	16.03	15.89	15.78	15.66	15.49	15.37	15.27	15.14	15.02	14.79	14.68	14.53	14.45	14.32	14.18	14.08	13.85	13.70	13.54	13.42	13.24	13.05	12.93	12.80	12.65	12.57	12.35	12.24	12.09	11.97	11.83	11.74	11.58	11.40	11.24	11.03	10.88	10.75	9.91		11
17.98	17.85	17.59	17.40	17.30	17.07	16.91	16.66	16.60	16.43	16.23	16.11	16.03	15.87	15.73	15.65	15.42	15.35	15.24	15.08	14.87	14.77	14.63	14.50	14.40	14.22	14.08	13.87	13.73	13.59	13.42	13.24	13.10	12.96	12.84	12.69	12.58	12.34	12.25	12.15	11.97	11.89	11.74	11.54	11.36	11.14	11.03	10.88	10.08		12
18.41	18.23	18.01	17.85	17.66	17.48	17.26	17.12	17.00	16.80	16.62	16.47	16.40	16.21	16.12	15.95	15.84	15.70	15.57	15.38	15.21	15.13	15.01	14.85	14.66	14.57	14.38	14.20	14.05	13.91	13.72	13.53	13.37	13.25	13.11	13.03	12.84	12.64	12.48	12.37	12.27	12.10	12.02	11.81	11.59	11.44	11.27	11.14	10.25		13
18.73	18.47	18.28	18.07	17.93	17.74	17.55	17.31	17.16	17.11	16.83	16.74	16.62	16.44	16.32	16.18	16.03	15.93	15.80	15.57	15.42	15.32	15.19	15.09	14.89	14.78	14.57	14.39	14.21	14.08	13.89	13.73	13.55	13.44	13.33	13.12	13.06	12.80	12.69	12.51	12.37	12.29	12.11	11.93	11.74	11.51	11.44	11.27	10.48		14
18.97	18.78	18.51	18.34	18.18	18.00	17.78	17.57	17.46	17.26	17.11	17.00	16.83	16.72	16.56	16.41	16.25	16.14	15.98	15.84	15.63	15.49	15.38	15.21	15.13	15.01	14.77	14.57	14.39	14.23	14.06	13.89	13.73	13.57	13.45	13.33	13.17	13.03	12.82	12.74	12.51	12.42	12.31	12.06	11.89	11.68	11.51	11.42	10.69		15
19.22	19.01	18.80	18.53	18.42	18.23	18.00	17.85	17.63	17.53	17.31	17.16	17.11	16.88	16.76	16.62	16.44	16.33	16.19	16.02	15.85	15.71	15.57	15.42	15.32	15.19	14.92	14.78	14.60	14.49	14.23	14.05	13.89	13.75	13.66	13.48	13.34	13.11	13.03	12.86	12.73	12.59	12.44	12.25	12.05	11.82	11.68	11.49	10.90		16
	19.26	19.03	18.81	18.73	18.44	18.27	18.05	17.92	17.78	17.55	17.45	17.21	17.13	17.07	16.83	16.72	16.57	16.41	16.19	16.03	15.93	15.80	15.63	15.49	15.37	15.15	14.92	14.78	14.65	14.45	14.21	14.06	13.92	13.81	13.67	13.50	13.31	13.11	13.06	12.84	12.74	12.60	12.36	12.18	11.95	11.82	11.68	11.06		17
	19.53	19.28	19.04	18.97	18.75	18.47	18.28	18.17	18.00	17.78	17.62	17.48	17.40	17.19	17.11	16.88	16.76	16.62	16.43	16.21	16.12	15.98	15.85	15.69	15.53	15.33	15.17	14.92	14.84	14.61	14.39	14.22	14.14	13.98	13.81	13.70	13.45	13.33	 	13.05	12.86	12.74	12.46	12.32	12.07	11.95	11.81	11.29		18
20.24	19.97	19.78	19.51	19.37	19.17		18.68	18.56	18.42	18.21	18.08	17.90	17.73	17.62	17.43	17.30	17.21	16.98	16.82	16.61	16.50	16.34	16.18	16.07	+		15.46	15.32	15.17	14.97	14.69	14.55	14.42	14.30	14.13	13.98	13.73	13.59	13.47	13.28	13.19	13.01	12.82	12.57	12.35	12.23	12.04	11.45		19
-	20.27	-	-	19.63	19.42	19.19	-	18.81	-	+	18.26	+	18.00	-	17.66	17.57	-	-	17.00	+-	_	+	_	16.25	+	+	15.68	-	15.35	15.15	14.90	14.74	+	_	-	1	13.88	13.74	 	 	13.32	13.19	12.93	12.76	12.46	12.35	-	+		20
-	20.55			-		-	19.19	19.03	18.93	18.62	18.52	18.35	18.22	_	17.90	_	17.60	17.39	17.25	+	-	16.75	_	16.44	16.32	16.08	15.89	-	15.53	15.32	15.11	14.92	_	-	-		_	-		-		13.32	13.07	+	12.60	12.46		-		21
	20.82	-	_	20.15	H	-	19.42	19.28	19.18	18.92	18.81	18.53	18.45	18.25	18.17	17.87	17.86	17.58	17.46	-	-	16.95	_	16.60	16.55	16.24	16.09	15.81	15.71	15.45	15.26	15.14	_		-			-	H	13.74	13.65	13.44	13.19	13.06	12.76	12.61	_	12.03		22
_	20.95	-	_	-	_	-	19.52	+-	19.26	+	18.92	18.69	18.56	18.41	18.25	18.00	17.99	17.69	17.58	+	_	17.07	_	16.73	16.63	16.34	+	15.97	15.81	15.61	15.35	15.26	_	_	-	_	-	-	-	13.85	13.75	13.55	13.32	13.17	12.86	12.77	_	12.24		23
			+	20.36	 	\vdash	-	19.58	19.37	19.16	19.00	18.81	18.69	18.53	18.35	18.17	18.16	17.83	17.73	+	+	17.15	+	+	16.74	+	16.32	-	15.93	15.74	15.46	15.35	+		-	14.62		-	 	13.97	13.85	13.70	13.44	13.31	12.96	12.90	†	12.46	_	24
-	_	-	-	20.92	-	-	20.20	20.09	19.91	+	19.52	19.30	19.16	-	+	18.65	18.64	18.30	18.21	+	_	+	+	17.33	-	-	+	-	16.36	16.23	15.96	+	+	_	-	┢	-	_	+	14.42	14.31	+	13.89	+	13.36	13.33	_	+ +		25
-			_	21.55	-	\vdash	20.81	-	20.51	-	20.11	+	19.73	19.64	19.42	19.21	-	18.85	18.76	+	+	+	_	17.85	+	+	+	-	16.85	16.72	16.44	-	+	-	_	_	-	-	-	14.85	_	+	14.31	+	13.76	13.73	_	13.34		26
		_	_	21.56	H	_	20.82	20.70	20.52	_	20.12	19.89	19.76	19.65	19.42	19.21	19.20	18.86	18.77	+	_	18.17	_	17.86	+	17.48	17.29	-	16.86	16.73	16.44	16.32	_	_	_	15.50		-	 	14.86	14.75	14.53	. 14.31	14.15	13.77	13.74	 	13.34		27
-		_	-	5 21.56		-	20.82	20.70	-	1 20.24	20.12	19.89	5 19.76	5 19.65	19.42	1 19.21	19.20	5 18.86	18.77	-	-	7 18.17	_	5 17.86	_	3 17.48	17.29	-	5 16.86	16.73	16.44	16.32	_	-	-) 15.50	-	-		5 14.86	5 14.75	3 14.53	1 14.31	5 14.15	13.77	13.74		1 13.34		28
		_	-	5 21.56	-	_		-		1 20.24	20.12	19.89	5 19.76	5 19.65	19.42	1 19.21	19.20	5 18.86	18.77	+	-	7 18.17	_	5 17.86	-	-	17.29	-	5 16.86	3 16.73	16.44	16.32	_	_	_		-	-		5 14.86	5 14.75	3 14.53	1 14.31	5 14.15	13.77	1 13.74	_	1 13.34		29
-		-	-	6 21.56	-	_	2 20.82	0 20.70	-	+	2 20.12	9 19.89	6 19.76	5 19.65	2 19.42	1 19.21	0 19.20	6 18.86	7 18.77	+	-	7 18.17	_	6 17.86	-	+	9 17.29	-	6 16.86	3 16.73	4 16.44	2 16.32	-	_	-	0 15.50	-	-	_	6 14.86	5 14.75	3 14.53	1 14.31	5 14.15	7 13.77	4 13.74	-	4 13.34		30
	8 22.39	-	-	-			2 20.92	+	2 20.61	+	2 20.21	9 19.98	6 19.85	5 19.72	2 19.51	1 19.32	0 19.30	6 18.93	7 18.88	+	+	7 18.27	_	6 17.95	7 17.86	8 17.58	9 17.39	+	6 16.96	3 16.81	4 16.55	2 16.41		_	 	!	2 15.50	-	1	1		3 14.65	1 14.41	5 14.23	7 13.88	4 13.82	2 13.61	4 13.45		31
5	9	6	9	4	9	9	2	2	1	4	1-	∞	G	2	1,	2	0	lω	8	G	9	7	ω	5	6	∞	9	9	6	1,	5	1	5	2	0	ω	0	4	9	7	4	5	1	ω	∞	2	1	5	_	Ц

Placement Schedule 3

Support Hourly

Placement Schedule 3A

Support Salaried

Effective: July 1, 2013

Board Approved: October 22,

2013

ļ	50 ز	à đ	47	\$	45	44	43	42	41	8	30 6	20 1/	3 8	2 23	¥	33	32	31	30	29	28	27	26	25	24	23	22	21	20	19	18 1	1 6	ts	ŭ,	ᇥ	12	= [8	5 8	8 8	æ s	7 6	S G	2	03	22	2 ;	8
	16.06	15.26	15.56	15,46	15.27	15.05	14.97	14.82	14 73	14.51	14.41	14.18	14.08	13.94	13.87	13.76	13.64	13.45	13.36	13.23	13.14	13,04	12.90	12.79	12.62	12.43	12.34	12.25	12.03	11.90	11.76	11.5/	11.46	11.33	11.12	11.06	10.97	10.84	10.55	10,44	10.23	10.13	9.97	9.85		<u>₹</u>	8
	16.06	100.70	15.56	15.46	15.27	15.05	14.97	14.82	14 73	14.51	14.25	14.18	14.08	13.94	13.87	13.76	13.64	13.45	13.36	13.23	13.14	13.04	12.90	12.79	12.62	12.43	12.34	12.25	12.03	11.90	11.76	11.57	11.46	11.33	11.12	11.06	10.97	1000	10.55	10.44	10.23	10.13	9.97	9.85	8.57	€	22
200	16.06	15./0	15.56	15,46	15.27	15.05	14.97	14.82	14.73	14.51	14.53	14.18	14.08	13.94	13.87	13.76	13.64	13,45	13.36	13.23	13.14	13.04	12.90	12.79	12.62	12.43	12.34	12.25	12.03	11.90	11 75	11.57	11.46	11.33		\dashv	10.97	┰		+	+	- -		9.85	8.57	,	8
1000	16.06	15.70	15.56	15.46	15.27	15.05	14.97	14.87	14 14	12.21	14.33	14.18	14.08	13.94	13.87	13.76	13.64	13.45	13.36	13.23	13.14	13.04	12.90	12.79	12.62	12.43	\neg			11 95	-		-	-			10.84	$\overline{}$			+	+-		9.85	8.57	S	_ Z
11.01	15.91	15.75	15.61	15.51	15,33	15.11	15.07	14.78	14.07	14.40	14.38	14.24	14.13	13.99	13.93	13.81	13.69	13.50	13.41	13.28		├	Н		\vdash		-	12.30	\dashv			+	11.52	 	 	\rightarrow	11.03		+	+		10.19	+-	 i	8.63	£	2
71.oT	15.96	15,81	15.68	15.57	15.40	15.16	15.07	14.83	14.63	14.52	14.43	14.30	14.21	14.05	13.98	┼				-		_	Н				-	12.35	— ·		+				\vdash	11.17			+			10.25	+	+	8.71	ទ	2
90.01	16,49	16.24	16.07	15.98	15.80	15.60	15.43	15.20	15.05	+	+	 -	14.56	14.43	14.35		Н		$\overline{}$		-	-					12.74			+	-	_	+	H		7 11.40		+			1	5 10.41	+	 	9.06		-
17.08		16.73	16.55	 	1	16.07		+	+	-			+-	+	╁─	Н	Н			-			- 1	_	-		12 13	+	+	-	-	t	+	├	-	11.04	+		-	+	+	1 10.72	┪—	l. I	9.34	- 97	<u> </u>
17.38	+	+	 	Į i	-	16.35	+		+	+	1	15.39	+	1	 	 	\vdash	\rightarrow	\neg		\dashv	\dashv	<u>i</u> -		-	7 13 45	-		f-	Ť	Ť	5 12.51	╁	\vdash	7 12.03	\dashv			1		_	+	+	[9.52	8	┨
17.68		+	+	╁─┤	—†	1656	-			+	+	15.62	-	+		-	-	_	-1		\rightarrow	-	—	14 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	-	13 13	+			+	+	1 12.62	+	-	3 12.23	-			+	3 11.37		1		H	2 9.74	8	-
17.91	+	17.50		i I	17.03	+			╅	╅	+-	15.80	+	┝~	ш	- 1	15.16		[-	- 1	_	-	14.33	+	十	\dashv		-	+			2 12.86		\rightarrow	3 72.24		+	+-		7 11.56	+	-	 	-	996	-	
18.17	+-	17.76	-	\vdash	17.32	─┼	+		~}~~	+	16.17	+	 	\vdash	_		15.40	十	15.05			-	14 53			+	-	+		+	+	6 12.97	1-1	-	4 17 55	+		7 12.03	2 11.87	6 11.69	┪━~		 	3 11.02			-
18,43	18.30	18.03		\vdash	17.50	-	┥┈		16.64	+	16.43	┪━━	 	Н		-	15.67	\dashv			\dashv	-+			$^{+}$	+	-	- -		+	2 13.28	7 13.16		6 12.89	.		-	3 12.19	+	1		Н	1)2 11.15		12	
18.87	18.69	18,46	┼		17.09		+	+-	17.04	16.88	+	 	-	\vdash		3 16.09			$\boldsymbol{+}$	→-		-	\dashv				+	+	Ţ		8 13.58		·····	9 13 15		╅	1	12.40	··i	t	+	1-1		11.42	\rightarrow	13	
19.20	18.93	18.74	-	18.38	→-	+	╁		4 17.25	+	1	┼	Н	-		25.01 6	_	_			\dashv	\dashv		-	+	_	\neg	-		+	38 13.78	1		71.57	-	+	58 12.68	10 12.60	+	t	1		-	10./4		14	
19.44	19.25	┼	1—1	18.63		+	٠	+	5 17.54	+	-	-	-	─†		3 1654	+	+			+	+			+	+	+	+	14.24	14.07	-	-	15 13.66	+	+	┿	+	60 12.73	+	+	╁		73 11.80	_	+	15	2
19.70	5 19.49	1	 	3 18.88	-		0 18.07	┥	-	i –	 	⊢		17.04	\dashv		┉┼┈	4	+	1		+	+	+	┪		+	+	24 14.40	+	+	Н	56 13.82				+	-	1-1	Н	1	\dashv	80 11.97		+	$\dashv \dashv$, i
0 19.96	 			8 19.70		+	7 18.37	- 	H	+	! -		-	M 17.25	-		+	+	+			\vdash	+				85 15.02	59 14.81	40 14.57	24 14.41	 	\vdash	82 14.01	-			1	\vdash	[\vdash	\vdash	-	-		+	16 1	è
6 20.22	 		8 19.52			+	18.62	+		-			- 1	25 17.54		-	+	+			+	╅	_		+	+	02 15.21	81 14.98	57 14.75	+				+	╅	+	┼┈		\vdash	\dashv		-	- i-	+		17	
2 20.75	Н		2 (1 15		+	╅┈	-	 		\vdash		18.06	$\boldsymbol{\top}$			+	+	┪┈	{	1	+	-	71 16.06		29 15.70	21 15.55	98 15,34		_	Н	—†			+	13.50 13	 !		\vdash		12.63 12		-	+	 	∞	
	. 	\dashv	.00 20.30	+	-		-	-		-	_	17 18.45			-					+	┥			06 16.29	+	70 15.85	-	+	-	-		14.66 14	+			13.81 13	1				12.88 13	\dashv			1	- 19	
6 21.24			20.50	_		1	-	1				45 18.68	\neg			_	+	_		_	.		_	+	+		-	-	$\overline{}$			14.83	-			+	\vdash			_	13.08			+	┼	20	
21.55		-	50 20.55	·	-	+	Н	\vdash			81 18.99	-	- -		-	-		17.46 17.	17.33 17.	1	-	16.85 17	16.73 16	16,48 16	16.29 16	-	1	-	-			15.03 15	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	14.23 14	1	-	\neg		-	13.20 19	\dashv			-	2	
{ I		08 21 20	—	-			-	-	39 19.49		99 19.16	_			18.31 18.44		_	17.65 17.	17.52 17.	17.37 17.	17.25 17.	+-		+	-	16.21 16	-	-	-		-	15 10 15			14.40 14	\vdash	-	- †	13.78 13	-	13.08 13			_	1	22	
	_	21 24 24 24	_	_			_		$\overline{}$	\neg				-			-	17.76 17.89	_			_	17.05 17		16.59 16			-			15.46 15	-	-		· }	-	14.20 14	_	13.89	-	-			┯		23	
	61 22.17			-			\rightarrow	.85 20.41		\neg	\neg	_			_	18.28 18.76	-		17.82 18.	1	+	17.27 17.	-	,		,		-		15.73 16	_				-	-	14.32 14			_	_				<u> </u>	4	
K	5 1	z je	4 1	150	97	71	56	# i	<u> </u>	2	¥ \$	2 2	32	12	Ë	8	18.67	36	18.32	18.08	17.95	17.76	67	17.38	17.21	16.97	16.77	16.64	16.36	16.24	15.98	15.52	15.42	15.34	15.08	15.03	14.78	1 1	14.24	: [8	13.69	13.66	13.45	13.27	<u></u>	ĸ	

SO	49	48	47	46	45	44	43	42	<u> </u>	4	39	38	37	8	ls:	2	33	32] <u>w</u>	w	23	28	27	26	1 12	24	1 23	22	21	120	15	 #	17	15	ᇥ	12	13	ti li	1 1	± [8	3 8	8 9	3 8	3 8	2	8	ខ្ល	B
32,844	32,453	32,111	31,851	31,614	31,275	30,777	30,594	30,333	30,122	29,705	29,494	29,311	29,023	28,814	28,526	28,371	28,133	27,923	27,534	27,322	27,088	26,878	26,668	26,380	26,171	25,832	25,465	25,255	25,070				_	23,659	23,476	23,161	22,742	22,613	$\overline{}$	77 167	—					 2	23	8
32,844	32,453	→-		31,614	31,275	7 30,777	_	_		5 29,705	29	1 29,311	29,0	4 28,814	5 28,526	1 28,371	3 28,133	3 27,923	4 27,534	27	8 27,088	26	8 26,668	26	18	12	25	25	0 25,070	_	$\overline{}$	12	+	9 23,659	23	-	·······	-	6 22 456		-	1 2		20		2	17	_
32,844	32,453	_	_	14 31,614	75 31,275	30,777				 	494 29,494	_	23 29,	7	-	71 28,371		23 27,923	_	,322 27,	-	878 26,		380 26,				\rightarrow	_			_	-		476 23,				_	-	_	_	_				,560 17,	
					-		_		-	_		29,311 29	29,023 29	28,814 28	28,526 28	+	28,133 28	$\overline{}$	27,534 27	27,322 2	27,088 27	26,878 20	26,668 26	26,380 26	_		_		25,070 25					23,659 2	23,476 23			22.613 2:		_						_	17,560 1:	ಸ
32,844 3	32,453 3	-	31,851 3	31,614 3		-	-		-	_			29,023 2	28,814	28,526	28,371	28,133 2	_	27,534	-	27,088	26,878	26,668	26,380	—	_	_	_	25,070	24,599	$\overline{}$		_	23,659	23,476	_		22.613	-	$\overline{}$		_				-1	0	
32,950 32,959	32,559		31,956	31,721		30,883			$\overline{}$			29,416	29,129	28,919	28,632	28,477	28,240	28,029	1	27,428	27,193	26,983	26,775	26,486	26,277	25,939	$\overline{}$	25,361	25,176	24,706	24,444	24,184	23,975	23,765	23,581			22.719		380,22	21,724			20,834	20,521	20,231	17,666	R
32,959	32,565	32,226	31,964	31,729	31,389	30,890	30,708	30,446	30,235	29,817	29,608	29,425	29,137	28,927	28,639	28,483	28,248	28,037	27,647	27,437	27,200	26,990	26,782	26,493	26,284	25,945	25,578	25,369	25,185	24,713	24,451	24,190	23,981	23,773	23,588	23,274	22,855	22,200	6/7/77	22,096	21,732	21,495	21,051	20,841	20,528	20,239	17,825	3
33,901	33,724	33,214	32,910	32,683	32,326	31,919	31,567	31,311	31,081	30,802	30,550	30,268	30,042	29,787	29,532	29,355	29,025	28,873	28,443	28,189	28,060	27,730	27,578	27,221	27,070	26,689	26,385	26,079	25,800	25,545	25,089	24,911	24,656	24,352	24,249	23,973	23.567	75 237	20,500	22,599	22,322	21,965	21,712	21,306	21,127	20,873	18,538	3
	34,735	34,210			_		$\overline{}$						30,943		30,418		29,896	29,739	29,296		28,902	28,563	28,405	28,038	27,882	27,489	27,176	26,861	26,574	26,312	25,841	25,658	25,396	25,083		$\overline{}$	24.274			-			-	21,945	21,761	1-1	19,095	3
34,918 35,559	35,092	34,825		-			-						3 31,478		_	-	6 30,429	_	-	-		3 29,019	5 28,887	8 28,469	2 28,234	9 27,946	6 27,527	27,238	4 27,055	2 26,586	1 26,322	8 25,879	6 25,775	3 25,564	_	-	4 24.597					\neg	2 22,608	5 22,346	1 21,954		5 19,494	-
9 36,187	35,688	5 35,429	+			_		$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	}	-				_	-	29 30,800	_				19 29,462	87 29,178	59 28,940	34 28,730	16 28,235	27,947	38 27,684	55 27,371	86 27,055	22 26,586	79 26,349	75 26,191	_			97 25.014	-				74 23,261	08 22,949	46 22,558	_		94 19.910	-
87 36,635	88 36,318	29 35,797		-	$\overline{}$	\rightarrow					-			_	_	$\overline{}$			-	$\overline{}$		_	_	, _	_	_	+	_	_		.,			_	_	-	-	_			$\overline{}$				-	_		-
		+	_																				29,619 30	29,308 25	29,047 29	28,730 29	28,390 26	28,024 28	27,762 28	27,371 27	27,055 27	26,716 27	26,403 26			_	25,252 25	_	_		23,995 2/	23,627 25	23,211 2:	22,817 23		22,346 27	_	-
37,157 37,705	36,816 3	36,371 3	_				34.565 3	\rightarrow	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	_				-	-	-	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$		-	30,039 3	29,751 3	29,542 2	29,047 2	28,731 2	28,419 2	28,129 2	27,762 2	27,371 2	27,108 2	_		-	25 907	_	_	$\overline{}$		24,283	23,918	23,576	23,131 ;		22,558	_	-
	37,417	36,921							34 487	_		_			-	-							30,431	30,197	29,857	29,542	29,072	28,783		28,129	27,762		_		_	26 373	_		_	24,910	24,597	24,205	-	-	-	22,817	_	
38,591	38,253	37,782				36.211						_							32 260						30,586	30,142	29,800							27,499	27.314	25 925	76 576	25,956	25,718	25,379	25,195	24,776	24,308	24,017		23,392	1 13	
39,275	38,726	38,360	37,890	37,603	37,182	36.814	36 344	26,070	35,873	an 201	35.090	34 880	34.514	34,226	33,939	33,627	33,416	33,127	32.657	ENE CE	32 107	31,872	31,635	31,243	30,981	30,589	30,170	29,831	29,543	29,123	28,783	28,443	28,181	27,971	27,529	305 26	26,584	26,248	25,959	25,775	25,409	25,016	24,597	24,153	24,020	23,605	14	
39,774	39,378	38,832	38,464	38,124	37,757	37 787	36,860	202 JE	36 315	JE 072	35,502	25 20 3	35.061	34 724	$\overline{}$	_		_	33 232	33 763	32.52			-			30,589	_	_						27.972				26,248	26,088	25,826	25,305	1	_		23,968		
		-	$\overline{}$		38.256				_				$\overline{}$							22 257			32,343							Ī	_				28.260				26,689	26,402	26,116	25,667	25,277	-		24.130		2, 10
		-	$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	5 38 676					_	_		$\overline{}$				-	*****	0 33 063	\rightarrow	$\overline{}$			$\overline{}$						-			_	-	28 653	_	_	_	9 26,927	2 26,716	6 26,429	·	25			0 24 492		(
	-			75 39.774			_	_	_	_				35 36 034	_	61 35.406	$\overline{}$	_	70 70 53	$\overline{}$	_		_		-	-	31	-	_	-	-	_	78 29,646	-					27,370	16 26,979	29 26,717	; 	-	-	_			
		28 41,4	56 40,				_	_		3/	3/ 13/						$\overline{}$	$\overline{}$	_	-				392 33	506 33	-																						
436 42	890 42	494	40,947 41			1 12	958 39	38,618 39	38,199 38	910	37,519 38,097	3/,1/5 3,	משרינה שבינים	36 000 35	35 525 37 051	36 313 36	35,000 35,000	35 613 36 407	2 20	2 32	3 1	34 273 34	27	33.672 3	33,489 33	32,862 3:	32,443 32,867	32,100 3:	31.814 3	31,371 3	30,822 3	30,558 30	30.246 30	29 981 2	79,507 2	28,808 29	28,520 21	28,231 2	27,866 21	27,655 2	27,263 27,659	,870 2	26,349 2	25,902 26,168	25,616 25,906	24,047 2	19	! !
,889 4	495 4	41.946 4	41,500 41,946	1 1	40,245 40,793	1//3	434	0,094	,622 3	309	3,097	3/,/3/	1 20						0/6/	196		34 750	35	34.070	3,756			32,447	2 185	31.790	1 269	904	919.0	30 354 30 730	29,547 29,987	29,099	28,811	28,629	28,209	7,948	7,659	7,110	26,768	6,168	5906	24,441	20	
3,489	3006			71 697	0,793	0,246	38,958 39,434 39,931 40,428	9,720	38,622 39,067 39,694	38,857	38,493 38,884	38,230	CT6'/C	37016	27 522	37 100 37 475	36,400 35,690	36,187 35,508	5,693	5,480	OTT	35 118	803	31.5 72	34.226	33,703	33,310	32.867		32 107	1.688	31 294	6 30.616 30.955	700	786,67			28,994	28,522	28,235	27,948	27,422	27,006	26,403	26 168	24,806	21	
44,092	3124	43.121	42,468	41,000	41,370	40,741	40,428	40,219	39,694	39,433			38,283	30,09/	30,4/3	37,444	30,090	35,508	36,111	35,850	30,000	מניינים	200	24 25	34 695	34.043	33.729	33.155	37 045	32 421	32 002	31.765	31 795	21,063	30,225	29,831	29,463	29,308	28,811	28,629	28,183	27,661	27,395	26.768	26,110	25,223	22	
44,330	42 030	43 388	47 734	41,948	41,584	40,978	40,745	40,406	39,882	39,698	39,174	38,965	38,597	38,285	37,761		2/,08/	36,89/	36,3/4	34,389 34,961 35,480 35,850 36,113	97,00	25 700	35 644	35.064		34.28	33 96	33.49	37 945 33 156	32 735	32.002 32.188	31.765 32.003	31 795 31 610	10//00	30,432	29,831 30,171	29,675	29,594	28,811 29,047	28,838	28,183 28,444	27,948	27,606	26.979	26,430 26,299	25,642	23	
44,567	44 32	43.650	42,499 42,/34	42,340	41,584 41,818	41,321	40,745 41,058	40,641	39,882 40,169	39,857	39,437	39,176	38,88	38,49	38,10	38,07	37,369	3/,16	36,58	36,478	35,983	35,747		2 12 2 12 2 13	32 25	2 2	34.22	33.756	23 / 3		37 44	30 18			30,643		29,884	29,75	7 29,282	29,04		28,18		27.189			24	
36 42,889 43,489 44,092 44,330 44,567 45,718	100,444	0 44 701	9 43,854	43,3	8 42,922	1 42,364	8 42,161	1 41,729	9 41,195	7 40,943	7 40,485	6 40,206	38,887 39,977	38,495 39,545	38,101 39,113	37,754 38,073 39,087	38,3/6	3/,161 38,198	36,585 37,563	8 37,462	3 36,980	30,723	25 747 00,042	35 30 36 347	34 883 35 093 36 166	3 1	34 229 35 226	6 34 743	22 /150 2/ 212	33 000 34 031	37 448 33 400	30 188 33 000	30 506	33,975	3 31,569	30,432 31,392	4 30,858	4 30,7:	2 30,249	29,047 30,017	29,588	28,183 29,129	27.919 28.799	9 28.038		27,174	25	
[50]}	ij₽	= ř	= 12	: 6		<u>\$</u>	[2	%	18	±3	188	18	_[3	 6	<u> </u>		6	188	: J&	83	Ę	\$ C	i ji	5 8	# t	si ja	ă t	i 1	5 £	<u>د ال</u>	8 t	3 8	ع ا	i lù	<u> </u> 6	18	122	32	9	17	8	26	8 8	# F	2 C	17		

APPENDIX E 2019-2020 CLASSIFICATION AND PAYGRADES FOR EDUCATIONAL SUPPPORT PERSONNEL

(Hourly Employees Refer to Placement Schedule 3) (Annual Salaried Employees Refer to Placement Schedule 3A)

GENERAL CLERICAL	PAYGRADE
Clerk III	3
Clerk II	_
Clerk I	8
Office Clerk II	
Office Clerk I	16
Instructional Specialist Assistant	17
Secretary II	21
Secretary I	25
TEACHER ASSISTANTS	
Parent Liaison	
Language Assistant	
Support Paraprofessional	6
Instructional Paraprofessional (passing score on the Parapro test)	
Instructional Paraprofessional (AA, AS, 60 college credit hours)	
Paraprofessional III (Current employees only)	
Paraprofessional II (Current Employees only)	16
Paraprofessional I (Current Employees only)	21
Haney GED Specialist	
Behavioral Paraprofessional	
ESOL Instructional Paraprofessional	
Guidance Paraprofessional	
Guidance Faraprofessional	
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE	
Auditing Clerk I	
Inventory Audit Clerk I	16
Accounting Clerk	21
Bookkeeper II	
Bookkeeper I	
Inventory Clerk I	
Benefits Specialist	
Payroll Specialist I	
Payroll Specialist II	
Payroll Specialist III	36

MISCELLANEOUS	
Aide, Community Services	
Activity Leader	
Student Screener	
Mail Attendant	
Clerk I – Media Services	
Job Coach –Exceptional Student Education	
Child Find Assistant	
Purchasing Clerk	
Records Clerk II: Media Services Instructional Materials	
Records Clerk II: Media Services	
Records Clerk II: Circulation	
Records Clerk II	
Records Clerk I	
Testing Clerk	
Data Entry Manager III	
Data Entry Manager II	
Data Entry Manager I	
District Safety Officer	
Licensed Practical Nurse	
Voluntary Pre-Kindergarten Associate	
AYP Mentor/Parent Educator	50
HUMAN RESOURCES	
District Receptionist	14
Substitute Teacher Registrar	
Instructional Staffing Specialist I (current employee only)	
TECHNICAL	
Instructional Television Technician: Media Services	16
Computer Operator I	
Instructional Television Specialist: Media Services	
Programmer/Analyst	
OPERATIONS	
Student HelperMi	nimum wage
Laborer	
Maid	
Telephone Receptionist	
Laborer & Deliveryman	
Courier II	16

Courier IIIBackground Check Specialist	
Safety & Security Tele-Communicator and Video Specialist	
District Media Services Multimedia Technician	26
Warehouseman I (Warehouse)	35
Warehouseman II (Warehouse)	
Drug Dog Handler (part-time)	35
Custodian III	10
Custodian II	14
Head Custodian IV	19
Head Custodian III	21
Head Custodian II	24
Head Custodian I	26
TRANSPORTATION	PAYGRADE
School Bus Paraprofessional	6
Transportation Specialist	
Transportation Van Driver	
Transportation Operations Dispatcher	
Mechanics Helper	
Mechanic II	
Router	
Service Attendant	
Service Dispatcher	
Service Manager	
Certified Mechanic	
Vehicle Electronic Technician	
MAINTENANCE	
Semi-skilled Craftsman	_
Stadium Custodian II	
Equipment Operator	16
Logistics Supply Clerk	
Work Control Technology Specialist	
Painter	
Treatment Plant Operator/Exterminator	
Carpenter Helper	
Carpenter	
Plumber Helper	
Plumber	
Warehouseman II (Maintenance)	
Locksmith Helper	
Locksmith	35

Electrical Helper	26
Electrician	38
HVAC Helper	26
HVAC Refrigeration Mechanic	
HVAC Controls Mechanic	45
Welding/Sheet metal Mechanic	38
Automotive Mechanic (Maintenance)	39
Brick/Block Mason	35
Boiler man	38
Equipment Mechanic	38
Kitchen Equipment Technician	38
Turf and Irrigation Specialist	

NOTES:

Substitute and temporary help, with the exception of custodial, will be paid at the "0" experience level on the lowest level paygrade for the classification for which they are hired. Custodial substitutes will be paid minimum wage.

2019-2020 Differentiated Pay for Educational Support Personnel

High Risk of Personal Injury

A. Full-time paraprofessionals (6 hours or more) at Margaret K. Lewis School in Millville, St. Andrew, & New Horizons (schools with high risk of personal injury due to students with a history of aggressive behavior) will receive a supplement of \$535.00 to be paid in two equal installments. Those paraprofessionals working less than full-time will receive a prorated supplement amount based on the number of hours they work per day at a qualifying site. The first installment will be paid the last check in December. The second installment will be paid in the final check of the school year.

B. Full-time bus paraprofessionals who work more than half the year on routes to and/or from Margaret K. Lewis School in Millville, St. Andrews and/ or New Horizons will receive an annual supplement of \$250 per year. To be eligible for this supplement, bus paraprofessionals must not miss more than five (5) full or partial days of work annually and be employed at the end of the school year. This will be paid in the final check of the school year.

Autism

Full-time paraprofessionals (6 hours or more) working in the District's specially designed classes for children with autism (excluding those at ESE center schools) will receive a supplement of \$535 to be paid in two equal installments. Those paraprofessionals working less than full-time will receive a prorated supplement amount based on the number of hours they work per day in a specially designed class for autism. The first installment will be paid the last check in December. The second installment will be paid in the final check of the school year.

EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL

(From the Salary Schedule)

- A. All educational support employees are paid an hourly rate according to the employee's paygrade and years experience using Salary Schedule 3 & 3A.
- B. In determining eligibility for benefits, full-time employees are those who are employed a minimum of six (6) hours daily, five (5) days per week in permanently established positions. Less than full-time employees are classified in School Board Policy 5.101. A temporary position is an employment position which will not exist beyond six (6) consecutive calendar months. A position which exists for any part of a month is considered to be in existence for the entire month. Substitute employees render temporary non-contractual service on an on-call basis.
- C. All full-time educational support personnel employed for less than 52 weeks are entitled to insurance and the following holidays.

Monday, September 2, 2019 Wednesday, December 25, 2019 Monday, November 11, 2019 Wednesday, January 1, 2020 Thursday, November 28, 2019 Monday, January 20, 2020

Personnel employed for six (6) hours or more daily for 52 weeks are entitled to insurance, leave benefits and the following paid holidays:

Thursday, July 4, 2019

Monday, September 2, 2019

Monday, November 11, 2019

Thursday, November 23, 2019

Friday, November 29, 2019

Thursday, November 29, 2019

Thursday, November 29, 2019

Tuesday, December 24, 2019

Wednesday, December 25, 2019

Wednesday, January 1, 2020

Monday, January 20, 2020

Monday, May 22, 2020

D. As part of a cost saving measure to conserve energy, all facilities will be closed and all twelve month employees will be off for four weeks. The four weeks are:

July 1-5, 2019

December 23, 2019 - January 3, 2020

March 16-20, 2020

E. All personnel on a 12 month basis shall be entitled to annual leave cumulative to no more than 480 hours at the end of any fiscal year. The annual leave allowance shall be:

4 hours monthly 0-4 year employees 6 hours monthly 5-9 year employees 8 hours monthly 10-14 year employees

10 hours monthly 15 years and up employees

Each employee employed on a full-time basis shall be entitled to one day of sick leave for each month of employment. Such sick leave shall be cumulative from year to year, and there shall be no limit on the number of days of sick leave an employee may accrue.

- F. Refer to the School Board Policies and the Bay Educational Support Personnel Association Master Contract for terms and conditions of employment related to educational support personnel.
- G. Hours and duties are assigned by the administrator responsible for the employee's daily routine and payroll.
- H. Insurance benefits for Educational Support is detailed in the Master Contract.
- I. Support Personnel will be paid \$60.00 per day for participation (outside of normal contract period) in workshops and/or special curriculum development projects. (Rate is based upon a six (6) hour day.)
- J. Employees do not receive an automatic step on a salary schedule for pay increase. Beginning July 1, 2014, all employees must receive an overall evaluation rating of "Highly Effective" or "Effective" in order to qualify for a salary increase. Such increases are not automatic but will be determined through negotiations.

INDEX BESPA CONTRACT 2017-2018

A	
Absent from Work Location, Emergency (5.5)	. 13
Advertised Positions (8.2)(8.3)	
Agenda for Board Meetings (2.5)	
Announcements (2.4)	
Annual Leave (12.4G)	. 31
Annuity Programs (2.7)(15.3)	
Appearances Before Board, Judicial Body, etc (2.5)(5.6)	13
Appendix:	
A – Guidelines for Alternate Pay Cycle for Bus Drivers	.61
B - Educational Support Personnel Grievance Form	
C - Personnel Request for Transfer Form (online)	
D - Educational Support Pay Schedules	
E - Classification and Pay Grades	
Application for Leaves (12.1)	
Arbitrators, Selection (4.3)	
Article:	
1 - Recognition	3
2 - Union Rights	
3 - Negotiations Procedures	7
4 - Grievance Procedures	8
5 - Working Conditions	. 12
6 - General Employment Practices	
7 - Transfers and Assignments/Full-Time Employees	
8 - Vacancies & Promotions	
9 - Employee Evaluation/Personnel Records	
10 - Fair Discipline and Dismissal	
11 - Reduction in Force/Hours	
12 - Temporary Duty/Leave of Absence/Holidays	
13 - Use of Private Vehicles	
14 - Benefits	
15 - Insurance	
16 - Miscellaneous	
17 - Political Activity	
18 - Work Load	
19 - Compensation	
20 – Transportation Employees	
21 - Drug Free Work Place	
22 - Contracted Services	
23 - Terms of Agreement	. 60

B Bargaining Unit Exclusions (1.1)	Assault and/or Battery (5.10)	13
Bargaining Unit Inclusion (1.1) 3 Benefits (14) (15.5) 41, 46 Board Book & Packet (2.10) 46 Breaks (5.2) 12 Bulletin Board for Union (2.2) 4 Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Clostining and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 66 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 50 De	В	
Bargaining Unit Inclusion (1.1) 3 Benefits (14) (15.5) 41, 46 Board Book & Packet (2.10) 46 Breaks (5.2) 12 Bulletin Board for Union (2.2) 4 Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Clostining and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 66 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 50 De	Bargaining Unit Exclusions (1.1)	3
Benefits (14) (15.5) 41, 46 Board Book & Packet (2.10) 6 Breaks (5.2) 12 Bulletin Board for Union (2.2) 4 Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Complensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3)		
Board Book & Packet (2.10) 6 Breaks (5.2) 12 Bulletin Board for Union (2.2) 4 Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 Definitions (20.1B) 53 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>		
Breaks (5.2) 12 Bulletin Board for Union (2.2) 4 Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Definitions (20.1B) 53 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td></td<>		
Bulletin Board for Union (2.2) 4 Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Clostining and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Definitions (20.1B) 53		
Bus Drivers (20.1) 53 Attendance Incentive (14.5) 43 Bonus (14.7) 44 Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Clostining and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6		
Attendance Incentive (14.5)		
Bonus (14.7)	· · ·	
Cleaning of Bus (20.7) 56 Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	` ,	
Parking Assignment (20.6) 56 Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Classing of Pus (20.7)	44 56
Safe Driver Incentive (14.6) 43 Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	· · ·	
Summer Work Week (20.4) 55 C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
C Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5)		
Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Summer work week (20.4)	55
Cafeteria Benefits Plan (15.5) 46 Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Cars, Private (Article 13) 40 Changes to Contract (16.1) 47 Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		4.0
Changes to Contract (16.1)	· · ·	
Classifications and Paygrades (Appendix E) 66 Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Clothing and Equipment, Safety (5.4) 13 Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Committees, County Level (2.11)(2.12) 6 Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 	
Compensation (19.1)(19.3) 50,51 Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Compensatory Time (19.3) (19.5) 51 Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8) 13 Conflicts with Contract (16.2) 47 Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		•
Conflicts with Contract (16.2)	, , , , , ,	
Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7) 26 Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Complaints against employee (5.7)(5.8)	13
Contracted Services (22) 59 Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Copies of Contract (3.3) 7 Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Continuous Basis, Employment (10.6) 10.7)	26
Copies of School Board Policies (16.5) 47 Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Contracted Services (22)	59
Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Copies of Contract (3.3)	7
Courier Services (2.3) 4 CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Copies of School Board Policies (16.5)	47
CPI Training (5.21) 16 D 16 Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Courier Services (2.3)	4
D Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	CPI Training (5.21)	16
Days & Hours (20.2) 53 Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25		
Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	D	
Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7) 5 Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Days & Hours (20.2)	53
Definitions (20.1B) 53 Delegates, Union (2.13) 6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1) 14, 25	Deductions, Miscellaneous (2.7)	5
Delegates, Union (2.13)6 Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1)		
Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1)	Delegates, Union (2.13)	6
	Discipline, Employee (5.12)(10.1)	4. 25

Disruptive Students (5.9)	. 13
Dress Code (5.13)	.14
Driving Time (20.1B)	
Drug Free Work Place (21)	. 57
D (continued) Dues Deduction (2.6) Dues Rate Change (2.6)	5 5
E	
Employee Discipline (5.12)(10.1)	25
Equal Employment Opportunity (6.1)	. 17
Evaluation Conference (9.1H)	
Evaluation Criteria (9.1)	
Evaluator (9.1A)	
Evaluation Objections (9.1G)	
Exclusivity of Union (1.2)	
Exclusions (1.1)	
Experience, Upon Voluntary Reassignment (7.2D)	
Experience, Upon Voluntary Transfer (7.3D)	
Experience, Upon Involuntary Transfer (7.4H)	
Extended Employment Contracts (6.5)	
F	_
Fees for Collection of Dues (2.6)	
Field Trip Procedures (20.3)	
Fingerprint Renewals (5.20) Full-time (5.1A)	
i dii-diile (3.1A)	. 12
G Grievances:	
Arbitration (4.3)	8
Union Representative (4.2)(4.7)	10
Disposition (4.3)	
Filing (4.3)(9.1H)	۲2, 62
Legal Proceedings (4.6)	10
Non-Member Representation (4.9)	. 11
Notification of Hearings (4.8)	. 11
Procedure (Article 4)	

Records (4.5) Reprisals (4.5) Scheduling (4.3)(4.4) Steps (4.3) Time Limits Extended (4.4)	10 10 8
G (continued) Grievances: (continued) Union Filing (4.1)(8.3)	14
H Hair Length (5.11) Hazardous Conditions (5.3) Holidays, Paid (12.9) Hourly Pay Rate (19.3) (20.1) Hours, reduction of (11.2)	12 39 53
I Identification Badges (5.13) Illness-in-Line-of-Duty (12.4D) Inclusion (1.1) Insurance:	31
Annuity Programs (15.3) Committee (2.12) Deductions (15.2) During Absence (15.4) Employee (15.1) While on Leave (12.8) Inservice Education (5.14C)	6 45 45 45
J Job Classification and Pay (19.1) (Appendix E)	
K	
L Law Superseding Contract (16.2)	47

Leaves: Annual (12.4G)......31 Child Care (12.5B)34 Illness-in-Line-of-Duty (12.4D)34 Jury Duty (12.4F).......31 Maternal/Paternal/Parental (12.5A)33 Return from (12.6).......35 Unpaid Leave During Layoff (11.1E)27 Verification (12.4E)31 Leave for Union Officer (2.11)(2.13)(2.14)6 Μ Mailbox Provided Union (2.3)4 Meetings, Employees (2.9)6 Ν Negotiating Representatives (3.1)7 Notice of Vacancies (Article 8).......22

- 2	_
•	7
	- 1
•	- 4

P	
Paid Delegates' Leaves (2.13)Paraprofessional, As a Sub (5.19)	16
Pay Periods (19.4)	51
Pay Schedule (19.4) (Appendix D)	
Payroll Deductions (2.6)(2.7)	
Personal Leave (12.4C)(12.5C)	
Personal Life (6.3)	17
P (continued)	
Personnel:	
Full-Time (5.1A)	
Part-Time (5.1B)	
Personnel File (5.7)(9.2)	
Personnel File Inspection (9.2)	
Records (9.2)	
Physical Exam (6.2)	
Physical Fitness for Job (6.2)	
Policies, Board (16.3)(16.4)(16.5)Political Activity (Article 17)	
Posting Notices (2.2)	
Preamble	
Printing of Contract (3.2)(3.3)	
Private Vehicle (Article 13)	
Probationary Period (10.1)(10.2)	
Promotions (Article 8)	
Public Address System (2.4)	
Q	
R	
Recall, Following Layoff (11.1D)	27
Recognition (1.1)	3
Reduction in Hours (11.2)	27
Reduction in Staff (7.4) (11.1)	19, 27
Reimbursement for Travel (13.1)(13.2)	
Related Duties (20.1A)(20.1B)	53
Release Time for Union President (2.11)	
Repositioning (20.5)	56

Representation of non-members (4.9) Reprimand (5.15)(10.1) 15, Required Attendance at Board Meetings (2.5) 41, Retirement (14.1)(14.2) 41, Retirement Bonus (14.4) 41, Retirement, Employment After (14.3) 41, Retirement, Terminal Pay (14.1) 41, Return Address & Name (2.3) 41, Right to Appeal (4.3)(10.3) 8,	25 4 42 .42 .42 .41
S	
Salaries:	
Compensation (19.1)(19.3)	
Schedule (Appendix D)	. 64
Schedule for Pay Periods (19.4)	
Substitutes (6.4)School Visitation by Union Representative (2.8)	
Self-Report (16.6)	
Seniority (8.1B)	
Sick Leave:	
Defined (12.4A)	. 29
Entitlement (12.4A)	
Increments (12.2)	. 29
Outside Accumulation (12.4B)	. 30
Solicitation (16.5)	
Subsequent Bargaining (3.4)	
Summer School Employment (6.5)	
Suspension (10.1)Suspension (10.1)	. 25
Suspension without pay (10.4)	. 25
Т	
Terminal Pay/Annual Leave (12.4G)	
Terminal Pay/Sick Leave (14.1)	.41
Terms of Agreement (Article 23)	
Time and One-half (19.3) Time Lost for Appearances Before School Board (5.6)	. 51 12
Tobacco Use (5.17)	
Tools Joint Labor-Management Committee (5.14)	. 15
10015 John Labor Flanagement Committee (J.14)	. <u>.</u> .

Transfer Form (Appendix C) (online)	63
Transfer Request (7.3A)	
Transfer, Defined (7.1B)	
Transfers:	
Defined (7.1)	18
Involuntary (7.4)(7.5)(7.6)(7.7)	
Voluntary (7.2)(7.3)	
Transport Medical Fragile Students (5.16)	
Transportation Employees (Article 20)	
U	
Union Officers' Attendance at Meetings (2.11)(2.13)	6
Union Representatives (2.8)(2.9)(4.7)(5.12)	
Unsafe Conditions (5.3)	
Upgrades (8.1A)	22
U (continued)	
Use of School Buildings (2.1)	
Use of Private Vehicles (13)	40
V	
Vacancies and Promotions (Article 8)	22
Vehicles, Private (13)	
Visit Work Sites (2.8)	
VISIC WORK SICCS (2.0)	
W	
Wellness Center (5.22)	16
Work Days/hours (5.1)(6.6)(20.1)	
Workers' Compensation (14.2)	
Work Load (Article 19)	
Working Conditions (Article 5)	
g ==::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	

X Y Z